

Drug & Alcohol Services South Australia

**Technical report** 

WHO ASSIST Phase III

Results from the Australian arm of an International RCT of a Brief Intervention for illicit drug use linked to the scores on the Alcohol, Smoking and Substance Involvement Screening Test (ASSIST)

Dennington V, Humeniuk R, Newcombe D, Ali R. & Vial R. DASSA Research Monograph No. 23 Research Series

Sponsored by the World Health Organization and the Australian Commonwealth Department of Health & Ageing

ISBN 978-0-9803130-2-4

© Drug & Alcohol Services South Australia 2007

This work is copyright. You may download, display, print and reproduce this material in unaltered form only (retaining this notice) for your personal, non-commercial use or use within your organisation. All other rights are reserved. Requests and enquiries concerning reproduction and rights should be addressed to the Manager, Communications Unit, Drug & Alcohol Services Council, 161 Greenhill Road, Parkside, South Australia 5063.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was supported by monies from the World Health Organisation and the Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing. Ethical approval was obtained from the Royal Adelaide Hospital board of ethics.

Phase III of the WHO ASSIST project was coordinated by DASSA and implemented by the WHO ASSIST Phase III Working Group which included:

- Robert Ali (Drug & Alcohol Services South Australia, Adelaide, Australia)
- Thomas Babor (Department of Community Medicine, University of Connecticut Health Center, Farmington, CT, USA)
- Maria Lucia Formigoni (Universidade Federal de Sao Paulo, Sao Paulo, Brasil)
- Rachel Humeniuk (Drug & Alcohol Services South Australia, Adelaide, Australia)
- Roseli Boerngen de Lacerda (Department of Pharmacology, Federal University of Parana Curitiba, Brasil)
- Walter Ling (Los Angeles Addiction Treatment Research Centre, UCLA, USA)
- Bonnie McCree (Department of Community Medicine, University of Connecticut Health Center, Farmington, CT, USA)
- David Newcombe (Drug & Alcohol Services South Australia, Adelaide, Australia)
- Hemraj Pal (Department of Psychiatry, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, India)
- Vladimir Poznyak (Department of Mental Health and Substance Dependence, World Health Organization)
- Sara Simon (Los Angeles Addiction Treatment Research Centre, UCLA, USA)
- Janice Vendetti (Department of Community Medicine, University of Connecticut Health Center, Farmington, CT, USA)

The authors would also like to thank the staff of Clinic 275 Adelaide for their generous cooperation and assistance in recruiting participants for the Australian component of the study.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE	SUM	MARY	1
SECTION 1	INTR	ODUCTION	4
	1.1	The Alcohol Smoking and Substance Involvement Screening Test (ASSIST)	6
	1.2	Phase III of the WHO ASSIST project	7
	1.3	The Australian component of the Phase III study	9
		1.3.1 The ASSIST-linked Brief Intervention	9
SECTION 2	METH	IODOLOGY	12
	2.1	Overview	12
		2.1.1 Primary Health Care Setting	12
	2.2	Participants	13
	2.3	Procedure	14
	2.4	Scores derived from the ASSIST questionnaire	15
	2.5	Data Analysis	16
		2.5.1 Quantitative Analysis	16
		2.5.2 Thematic Analysis on Participant Feedback at Follow-up	16
SECTION 3	RESU	ILTS - DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS	19
	3.1	Demographics	19
	3.2	Treatment at baseline	19
		3.2.1 Average number of days between baseline and follow-up	20
		3.2.2 Previous treatment for substance use	21
		3.2.3 Substance Involvement at Baseline	21
		3.2.4 Current Frequency of Substance Involvement	22
		3.2.5 Time taken to administer ASSIST Questionnaire	23
		3.2.6 ASSIST Brief Intervention administered at baseline	23
		3.2.7 Injecting behaviour at baseline	23

	3.3	Follow-up	23
	3.4	Inferential Statistical Analysis	24
		3.4.1 Effect of the ASSIST BI on Total Illicit Substance Involvement Score	24
		3.4.2 Effect of the ASSIST BI on Specific Cannabis Involvement Scores	25
		3.4.3 Effect of the ASSIST BI on Specific ATS Involvement Score	26
		3.4.4 Changes in Specific Alcohol Involvement Scores and Tobacco Involvement Scores in BI participants over time	27
SECTION 4	DISC	USSION	28
SECTION 5	ANAL	LYSIS AND DISCUSSION OF FEEDBACK ON BI	30
	5.1	Participants' rating of the Brief Intervention Process	30
		5.1.1 Overview of Analysis	31
	5.2	General Feedback on the ASSIST BI	31
		5.2.1 'Becoming aware'	31
		5.2.2 'I don't know' and 'Just to inform me'	32
	5.3	Influence of ASSIST BI on health behaviour	33
		5.3.1 'I've cut down'	34
		5.3.2 'I've stopped using'	35
		5.3.3 'I'm thinking about it'	36
		5.3.4 'Heard it all before'	37
		5.3.5 'It's not an issue'	37
	5.4	Did you reduce your substance use?	38
	5.5	What influenced your health behaviour?	38
	5.6	Identifying and defining 'the problem'	38
		5.6.1 'The score'	38
		5.6.2 'The interview'	40
		5.6.3 'Hearing myself speak'	41

	5.7	Analys	is and discussion on feedback on 'Self- help' material	43
		5.7.1	'How much of the Self-help booklet did you read?'	43
		5.7.2	'How useful was the Self-Help booklet?'	44
	5.8	Particip	pants' final comments	45
SECTION 6	CONC		G COMMENTS	49
SECTION 7	REFE	RENCE	S	53
SECTION 8	APPE	NDICES	S	56

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Scores derived from ASSIST V3.0 questionnaire	15
Table 2	Substance Group Randomisation n(%)	20
Table 3	Number of days between baseline and follow-up interview	20
Table 4	Summary of ASSIST scores obtained	22
Table 5	Frequency of Substance Involvement Scores over last 3 months (Q.2)	22
Table 6	Time (minutes) to administer ASSIST Questionnaire at Baseline	
	and Follow-up	23
Table 7	Total Illicit Substance Involve Scores – Bl and Control at Baseline	
	and Follow-up	24
Table 8	Specific Cannabis Involvement Scores – BI and Control at Baseline	
	and Follow-up	25
Table 9	Specific ATS Involvement Scores – BI and Control at Baseline	
	and Follow-up	26
Table 10	Bl Group only – Specific Alcohol Involvement score and Specific Tobacco	
	Involvement Score at Baseline and Follow-up	27
Table 11	How useful was the booklet for?	45

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	Total Illicit Substance Involvement scores over time, BI vs. Control	24
Figure 2	Specific Cannabis Involvement scores over time, BI vs. Control	25
Figure 3	Specific ATS Involvement scores over time, BI vs. Control	26
Figure 4	Brief Intervention group – rating of influence on health behaviour	33

### EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report presents the findings from the Australian component of the international World Health Organisation ASSIST (Alcohol, Smoking and Substance Involvement Screening Test) Phase III Screening and Brief Intervention study. The ASSIST screens for risky use across all substance groups and has been tested for feasibility, reliability and validity across a number of cultures in earlier investigative phases (Phase I and II). The primary aim of the international WHO ASSIST Phase III Project was to conduct a cross-cultural randomised controlled trial (RCT) evaluating the effectiveness of an ASSIST-linked Brief Intervention (BI) for risky, but non-dependent, illicit drug use (cannabis, cocaine, amphetamine-type stimulants (ATS) & opioids) in participants recruited from primary health care settings. The study was conducted in Australia, Brazil, India and the United States of America, however only the Australian findings are presented here. For information on the international findings please refer to the WHO ASSIST website http://www.who.int/substance\_abuse/activities/assist/en/index.html

Screening and brief intervention has been shown to be effective in primary care settings for alcohol, however there is currently a paucity of knowledge concerning the effectiveness of; (*a*) brief interventions for illicit drug use, (*b*) linked to screening outcomes, (*c*) in primary care settings, compared with the number of studies for alcohol or tobacco (Dunn *et al.*, 2001). This area has been slow to develop partially due to the lack of reliable and valid screening instruments for multiple substances, however, the recent availability of the ASSIST allows screening to be employed in primary health care settings and interventions to be developed and tested accordingly.

The study utilised a randomised controlled design in which eligible participants (N=171) were randomly allocated to an Intervention or Waitlist Control group at baseline and followed up three months later (follow-up rate = 95%). The Australian participants for this study were recruited from a free, walk-in, sexually transmitted disease service (Clinic 275) in metropolitan Adelaide, South Australia. Both groups were administered the ASSIST and a demographic profile questionnaire at baseline. Intervention participants received a 5-10 minute brief intervention for the drug for which they scored the highest on the ASSIST (i.e., cannabis, cocaine, ATS or opioids), they also received a self-help skills development booklet (Humeniuk *et al.*, 2003) to take home with them. The ASSIST-linked BI utilised FRAMES and motivational interviewing techniques and focussed on participants' ASSIST scores as a way of providing them with personalised feedback. At the three month follow-up all participants were re-administered the ASSIST. Participants who had received the ASSIST-linked BI at baseline

1

were asked what they thought about the personalised feedback they had received using a semi-structured questionnaire including: responses to the information received as part of the BI; whether or not the self-help booklet was read, and whether the BI procedure changed their substance use behaviour. Participants also provided feedback on which aspect(s) of the BI they remembered most and which aspects were most influential (if any) in changing substance taking behaviour.

The findings showed that participants who received the ASSIST-linked Brief Intervention had significantly lower Total Substance Involvement ASSIST Scores at follow-up than control subjects (F(1,160) = 14.68, p<0.001). Participants who received an ASSIST-linked Brief Intervention for ATS use had significantly reduced Specific ATS Involvement ASSIST Scores at follow-up compared with control subjects (F(1,120) = 7.89, p<0.01). Participants receiving an ASSIST-linked Brief Intervention for cannabis use demonstrated a trend toward reduced Specific Cannabis Involvement ASSIST Scores, although this was not statistically significant (F(1,28) = 24.07, p=0.137). In addition, participants who received the Brief Intervention did not have significantly increased Specific Alcohol or Tobacco Involvement Scores at follow-up indicating that they had not replaced their illicit drug use with increased alcohol or tobacco use.

The open-ended feedback responses provided by those participants who had received the Brief Intervention were coded using thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Overall, responses to the Brief Intervention were positive and 72% of participants indicated that they did attempt to reduce their substance use after receiving feedback and information at baseline. Moreover, 76.8% reported reading at least some of the self-help booklet and 23.2% reported having read it all. Several broad themes: '*I've cut down'*, '*I've stopped using*' and '*I'm thinking about it*', were identified from the analysis of the responses from those participants who did attempt to reduce their substance use. The dominant themes that were identified from the analysis of those who positively rated the influence of the ASSIST-linked BI on their health behaviour centred around issues of 'cutting down' and 'identifying and defining the problem'.

In conclusion, the effectiveness of the BI linked to ASSIST screening in primary health care is evidenced by the empirical findings showing a reduction in ASSIST scores, which was supported by participants' comments. Most participants cut down their substance use - some completely - and there were only a few participants who did not change their health behaviour at all. Comments received from participants confirm that positive changes in health behaviour can be achieved through the implementation of the ASSIST-linked BI. Participant resistance and defensiveness to the ASSIST and the BI was low and, overall, participants' health behaviour is behaviour responses to the BI were positive.

There is a significant public health burden associated with substance use worldwide. Tobacco, alcohol and illicit drugs (heroin and cocaine) account for 8.8%, 3.2% and 0.4% of all deaths respectively, and 4.1%, 4.0% and 0.8% of Disability Adjusted Life Years respectively. Indeed, according to the 2002 World Health Report substance use is among the top 20 risk factors for death worldwide, (World Health Organization, 2002). There is also evidence that the burden on the public health care system from risky, albeit non-dependent use, may be greater than the burden due to dependent use (Institute of Medicine, 1990; Skinner, 1987).

There is substantial evidence of the benefits of screening and brief intervention for alcohol problems in primary health care (PHC) settings, particularly when linked the brief intervention is linked to the results of screening tests such as the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) (Bien *et al.*, 1993; Cordoba *et al.*, 1998; Heather, 1996; Maisto *et al.*, 2001; Miller & Rollnick, 2002; Senft *et al.*, 1997; WHO Brief Intervention Study Group, 1996). Senft's showed a reduction in frequency of alcohol consumption at 6 and 12 months in hazardous drinkers who had received a 15 minute brief intervention and selfhelp materials, in a primary care setting (Senft *et al.*, 1997). Furthermore, the WHO Brief Intervention Study Group found that five minutes of simple advice, linked to the results of the AUDIT were as effective as 20 minutes of counselling (1996). Moreover, brief interventions have been shown to be a cost effective way of reducing alcohol consumption and associated problems (Fleming *et al.*, 2000; Wutzke *et al.*, 2001).

Screening and brief intervention might be effective in primary care settings for substance use other than alcohol, if culturally appropriate screening and intervention procedures could be developed. However, there is currently a paucity of empirical information concerning the effectiveness of: (a) brief interventions for illicit drug use; (b) linked to screening outcomes, (c) in primary care settings, compared with the number of studies for alcohol or tobacco (Dunn *et al.*, 2001). Part of the reason for the scarcity of research may be a result of not having access to adequate screening instruments for substances other than alcohol or tobacco.

There is evidence emerging suggesting that brief interventions may work for non-alcohol, non-tobacco drugs such as cannabis (Copeland et al., 2001; Lang et al., 2000; Stephens et al., 2000), benzodiazepines (Bashir et al., 1994), opioids (Saunders et al., 1995) and cocaine (Stotts et al., 2001). For example, (Bashir et al., 1994) gave patients with chronic benzodiazepine problems brief advice lasting a few minutes and a self-help book, as part of a routine visit to a general practitioner. They found that the brief advice group significantly reduced their benzodiazepine use and showed improved general health both 3 and 6 months after the advice was given. In another study, regular amphetamine users - including dependent users, were recruited from a variety of health settings. These participants were assessed using a variety of procedures and were found to reduce their amphetamine use following a brief intervention which comprised two-four sessions of Cognitive Behavioural Therapy and a self-help book (Baker et al., 2001). A randomized controlled trial conducted by (Bernstein et al., 2004) screened clients recruited from walkin primary health care clinics with a variety of drug and alcohol screening tests. Clients randomised to the brief intervention group were more likely to reduce their cocaine and heroin use than those not receiving the brief intervention. In this US study the brief intervention conducted by peer educators lasted an average of 20 minutes (range 10-45 min) with an adjunct ten minute 'booster' intervention via telephone ten days later. Finally, a pilot study amongst adolescents recruited from primary care settings showed that a 15-20 minute intervention linked to a brief self-report screening questionnaire resulted in attitudinal changes towards substance use and decisions to cut down (Stern et al., 2007). This same study (Project CHAT) found that brief interventions based on motivational interviewing techniques were a viable approach for working with adolescents in primary care settings.

While the above-mentioned studies demonstrate that brief interventions for drugs can be effective, it is worth noting that for the majority of the studies the brief intervention session lasted between 30 and 90 minutes and that the interventions were not necessarily linked to screening outcomes within primary care settings.

5

In fact, until recently, a culturally-neutral screening questionnaire for all substances, including illicit drugs, has not been available for use in primary care settings.

# The Alcohol Smoking and Substance Involvement Screening Test (ASSIST)

The Alcohol, Smoking and Substance Involvement Screening Test (ASSIST) was developed under the auspices of the World Health Organisation (WHO) by an international group of specialist addiction researchers and clinicians in response to the overwhelming public health burden associated with problematic substance use worldwide. The ASSIST was designed to screen for problem or risky use of tobacco, alcohol, cannabis, cocaine, amphetamine-type stimulants (ATS), sedatives, hallucinogens, inhalants, opioids and 'other drugs'. It is worth noting that methylene dioxymethamphetamine (MDMA), also commonly referred to as ecstasy, was included in the amphetamine-type stimulants category.

The ASSIST has undergone significant testing (see below) to ensure that it is feasible, reliable, valid, flexible, comprehensive and cross-culturally relevant. Phase I of the ASSIST project investigated test-retest reliability at the item level and scale level, as well as the collection of qualitative data on feasibility and acceptability. Two-hundred and thirty-six sets of test-retest interviews were completed by ten international sites in 9 different countries. Data were examined according to question stem, substance class and data collection setting in order to provide recommendations for improving the instrument. The ASSIST proved to be a reliable and feasible screening tool and the detailed results of Phase I can be found in (WHO ASSIST Working Group, 2002).

Phase II of the ASSIST project investigated the validity of the ASSIST for use in primary health care settings. The validity study conducted with 1047 subjects from seven different countries, demonstrated that the ASSIST had good concurrent, construct, predictive and discriminative validity. A brief intervention linked to ASSIST scores also was piloted as part of Phase II and demonstrated that a brief intervention for alcohol was an effective way of significantly reducing alcohol ASSIST scores when compared with primary health care subjects who did not receive an intervention (Humeniuk, 2006;

1.1

Newcombe *et al.*, 2005). Similarly, the brief intervention was also shown to be effective for drugs other than alcohol (cannabis, opioids & cocaine) and ASSIST scores for these substances significantly reduced by 23% from baseline to follow-up three months later.

The ASSIST V3.0 questionnaire (see Appendix 1) commences with a general screening question that asks about lifetime use; if the respondent reports no psychoactive substance use, the interview can be terminated. If the respondent admits to lifetime use of one or more substances, the remaining questions need only to be asked with regard to those substances used. Question 2 asks about frequency of use in the past three months. If none of the substances have been used in the past three months, the interviewer can skip to the last three questions, which enquire about lifetime and frequency of usage patterns. Question 3 is a measure of psychological dependence and asks about frequency of strong compulsion to use substances in past three months. Question 4 is a measure of harmful substance use, and asks how frequently the respondents' drug use had led to health, social, legal or financial problems. Question 5 asks whether respondents have failed to meet role obligations because of their use of substances (except tobacco). Questions 6 to 8 ask about lifetime and recent problems, including whether friends or relatives have expressed concern, prior attempts at controlling drug use and prior injection of drugs during the past three months and in their lifetime.

### 1.2

### Phase III of the WHO ASSIST project

The international WHO ASSIST Phase III project is based on the model used by the WHO to advance alcohol screening and brief intervention through the development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) (Babor *et al.*, 1989; Babor & Higgins-Biddle, 2001; Babor *et al.*, 2001; WHO Brief Intervention Study Group, 1996). The primary aim of the Phase III Project was to conduct a cross-cultural randomised controlled trial (RCT) evaluating the effectiveness of a Brief Intervention (BI) for illicit drugs (cannabis, cocaine, ATS & opioids) as linked to the Alcohol, Smoking and Substance Involvement Screening Test (ASSIST). It is worth noting that participants recruited to this study scored within the moderate risk range of the ASSIST only (i.e. between 4 and 26) and were not high risk, dependent users. Participants in this group were at moderate risk of health and other problems because of their drug use

7

and may have been experiencing problems both currently and in the future including the risk of dependence.

The primary aim of the Phase III WHO study was to undertake an international multi-site collaborative project to evaluate the effectiveness of a Brief Intervention for illicit drugs (cannabis, cocaine, ATS & opioids) as linked to the ASSIST, in a variety of primary health care settings and in a number of different cultural contexts. A secondary aim involved the development of client and clinician resources incorporating: instructions for administering the ASSIST and Brief Intervention; self-help materials on specific drug information and generic self-help strategies to reduce drug use; information on injecting risk, and a feedback report card on current drug use.

Overall, the Phase III international study intended to provide answers to the following research questions:

- Does the ASSIST BI significantly reduce Total Illicit Substance Involvement<sup>1</sup>?
- Does the ASSIST BI reduce the Specific Substance Involvement Score<sup>1</sup> (cannabis, cocaine, ATS, opioids) for which subjects received a Brief Intervention?
- Does the ASSIST BI perform better for some illicit substances than others?
- 4. Does the ASSIST BI, delivered to target one particular substance, also reduce other illicit substance use in the same individual?
- 5. Does reducing illicit substance use as a result of receiving a BI result in substitution with other substances such as alcohol and tobacco (ie. increase the Specific Substance Involvement Score<sup>2</sup> for alcohol and tobacco consumption)?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Table 1 on page 15 for a description of these scores

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Table 1 on page 15 for a description of these scores

 Are the testimonies (feedback) of participants who received the brief intervention commensurate with the results of the quantitative analysis (Q1 – 5 above)?

It was intended that this study be as 'real world' as possible and hence it was expected that only a very brief intervention would be feasible in primary care settings. This was due to time constraints and a general reluctance by health care workers to deal with substance users. Consequently, the length of the brief intervention was expected to vary from country to country depending on the time available to the clinician, but aimed to be between 5 and 15 minutes in duration.

### 1.3 The Australian component of the Phase III study

This report presents the quantitative and qualitative results from the Australian component of the WHO ASSIST Screening and Brief Intervention for psychoactive substance in primary health care settings. In particular, it examines how primary health care clients, who screen positive (moderate risk) on the ASSIST for illicit drugs (cannabis, cocaine, ATS or opioids), respond to a single short brief intervention suitable for use in primary health care settings as well as to self-help information, in comparison with control participants who do not receive a brief intervention. Due to constraints of sample size, it was not feasible for the Australian component of the study to answer all the outlined research questions and focussed predominantly on research questions 1, 2, 5 and 6 only.

### 1.3.1 The ASSIST-linked Brief Intervention

The aim of the ASSIST-linked Brief Intervention is to move participants through the stages of change using the technique of FRAMES and Motivational Interviewing (Bien *et al.*, 1993; Miller & Rollnick, 2002). The stages of change model proposes that individuals pass through recognised stages of change as they modify their own behaviour (Prochaska & Di Clemente, 1982). Each stage of the cycle of change reflects both a period of time and a set of tasks or processes of change required for movement to the next stage. The specific stages of change include Pre-contemplation (not thinking about changing), Contemplation (thinking about change, weighing up the pros and cons and information/resource gathering) and Action (actually cutting down or stopping). While it is clear that brief interventions are effective, particularly for alcohol, it appears that implementation and uptake within health settings may be hindered by a variety of barriers (Roche & Freeman, 2004). The three main reasons perceived by clinical staff as barriers to taking up screening of alcohol screening and BI within PHC settings were; (1) a lack of time, (2) concern that patients will be defensive and, (3) a lack of staff knowledge and skills to conduct the screening and intervention. (Barry *et al.*, 2004)

To combat the identified limitations, the ASSIST-linked BI was designed to be very short and easily linked to the score from the ASSIST screening questionnaire via the use of the ASSIST Feedback Report Card (See Appendix 2), which records the participants' ASSIST scores and presents the risks associated with the participants' current pattern of substance use. Furthermore, the ASSIST-linked BI incorporates motivational interviewing techniques that have been found to reduce client resistance while still facilitating change. Finally, the BI within the Australian context followed 9 simple steps which could easily be utilised by health workers who were not accustomed to working with substance users on a regular basis. The 9 steps of the Brief Intervention are outlined below and an example is shown in is shown in the Appendix 3.

- FEEDBACK ask participant if they are interested in seeing how they scored on the questionnaire and use feedback report card to give feedback on scores and on the specific substance risks associated with their scores
- ADVICE provide advice to participant that the best way they can reduce their risk is to cut down or stop using the substance
- 3. RESPONSIBILITY let participant know that what they do with the information you are providing is their responsibility and that you are just letting them know about the relationship between their current patterns of use and the kinds of harms they might be experiencing
- CONCERN about score ask participant open ended question regarding how concerned they are by their ASSIST score

- 5. GOOD THINGS ABOUT USING creating ambivalence by weighing up the good things against the less good aspects of using the substance
- LESS GOOD THINGS ABOUT USING creating ambivalence by weighing up the good things against the less good aspects of using the substance
- 7. SUMMARISE providing a summary of what the participant has just said using reflective listening with an emphasis on the less good aspects of their drug use that they have identified
- CONCERN about less good things ask participant open ended question regarding how concerned they are by the less good things they have nominated about using the substance
- 9. TAKE-HOME INFORMATION AND BOOKLET provide participant with substance information and the self-help guide for cutting down.

### 2.1 Overview

The study employed a randomised controlled design in which eligible participants were randomly allocated to an intervention or waitlist control group at baseline and followed up three months later. Both groups were administered the ASSIST and a demographic profile questionnaire at baseline. Intervention participants received a brief intervention for the drug for which they scored the highest on the ASSIST (either; cannabis, cocaine, ATS or opioids), they also received self-help materials relating to that drug. If participants scored within the moderate risk range for two or more of the target drugs, they were asked which substance was of the most concern to them, and the Brief Intervention was aimed at this substance. Details about the Brief Intervention were recorded on a BI checklist (Appendix 4 "Part 7 - Brief Intervention Record"). Both groups were re-interviewed three months later with the ASSIST. After being administered the ASSIST, the brief intervention participants were administered a semi-structured interview which asked for their views on the information and feedback they had received at the last interview three months ago (Appendix 5 "Part 9 - Brief Intervention Process Rating Form - Follow up"). For ethical reasons, control participants were placed on a waitlist for treatment, and were given a brief intervention at the follow-up stage (after they had been administered the ASSIST). Details of the follow-up intervention were recorded on a "Part 7 – Brief Intervention Record" but are not included in the results of this study. Participants were compensated for their time in the study and for travel relating to returning to the clinic for the second interview three months later.

Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the Royal Adelaide Hospital Research Ethics Committee (Protocol no. 980803b) and all relevant ethical safeguards were met in relation to protection of participants.

### 2.1.1 Primary Health Care Setting

The study was conducted at a free, walk-in sexually transmitted disease service (Clinic 275) in metropolitan Adelaide, South Australia. This clinic is linked to the Royal Adelaide Hospital and is the primary clinic for sexual health in South Australia. Participants were recruited over two periods: September – October 2003 and April 2004 – May 2005.

### 2.2 Participants

Participants were aged between 18 and 50 and were clinic attendees. Participants who scored low: between 0 and 3 for cannabis, cocaine, ATS and opioids, and between 0 and 31 for tobacco, and between 0 and 26 for alcohol, hallucinogens, sedatives, inhalants or other drugs, were excluded from enrolment into the study, but received information on drugs if relevant.

Participants who scored between 4 and 26 (moderate risk) for cannabis, cocaine, ATS or opioids were enrolled in the study and randomised to either the Control or Intervention group.

Participants who scored in the high risk category (27 or higher for any of the substances), or who had frequently injected drugs in the last three months (more than 4 times per month on average) were excluded from enrolment into the study and were referred to treatment services via contact with the South Australian Alcohol and Drug Information Service (ADIS).

The following were the primary inclusion/exclusion criteria for recruitment to the study. Participants in the study were:

- 1. between the ages of 18 and 50 years;
- 2. a member of the main ethnic group(s) in the population;
- 3. able to communicate in English;
- willing to participate in a 3 month follow-up where they return to the treatment agency for interview;
- able to be followed up three months later and give contact details of at least 2-3 other people;
- 6. of fixed address and able to provide contact details of their home;
- 7. not pending incarceration within the next three months;
- 8. not severely cognitively impaired or have severe behaviour;
- 10. not tended to violent or aggressive behaviour;
- physically well enough to participate in a 30 minute interview and intervention session;
- 12. not intoxicated or going through withdrawal from alcohol or other drugs;

- not currently in drug (excluding nicotine) or alcohol treatment (within the last month),
- 14. not incarcerated or in an environment where they were not able to come and go as they please in the last three months.

### 2.3 Procedure

The clinical interviewers were trained by the International Study Coordinator to administer the test battery, ASSIST and Brief Intervention. For the purposes of this study, clinical interviewers were recognised as being 'defacto' staff of the STD clinic, to ensure that the screening and intervention were as 'real world' as possible.

All clients of the STD clinic who presented during the above-mentioned period were given a self-completion version of the ASSIST as an initial pre-study screen. Participants who appeared to score within the desirable moderate risk range met the inclusion/exclusion criteria were approached by the clinical interviewers and asked to be involved in the study under the proviso that they were eligible to participate. Participants were then re-administered the ASSIST questionnaire and demographic profile by the interviewer to ensure that they were eligible for study participation. Participants enrolled into the study were randomised to either the waitlist Control or Intervention group and were assigned a unique identification number. Depending on their gender and the score received for a particular substance at baseline, participants in each group also were matched to a high or low use substance group. All participants gave their informed consent and were asked for contact information to arrange a follow up interview.

Intervention participants received the ASIST linked Brief Intervention including the associated self-help materials. The Brief Intervention was timed and expected duration was around 6 to 8 minutes, but no more than 15 minutes. Details of the Brief Intervention were recorded on a checklist (Appendix 4 "Part 7 – Brief Intervention Record"). Control participants did not receive an intervention, but were told that they would be contacted again in three months, and to contact the clinical interviewer if they had concerns about the study or their substance use during this time. Both Control and Intervention participants had an appointment made by the researcher for the three month follow-up at the completion of the baseline session. It is worth noting that baseline assessments were kept to a minimum because of the potential for bias and disruption to the flow of routine medical consultation at the primary health care setting.

At the three month follow-up, both groups (Control & Intervention) were readministered the ASSIST and the Intervention participants were administered a brief intervention feedback questionnaire to ascertain how they perceived the information and feedback they received at baseline had affected their drug use (Appendix 5 "Part 9 – Brief Intervention Process Rating Form – Follow up"). Control participants received a brief intervention at this time.

### 2.4 Scores derived from the ASSIST questionnaire

A number of scores derived from participant's results on the ASSIST were used for analysis. The following scores were calculated from data collected:

- 1. Total Illicit Substance Involvement Score (calculated by the addition of all responses to Questions 1-7 excluding alcohol and tobacco),
- Specific Substance Involvement Score for each Substance (calculated by the addition of responses to Questions 2-7 within each substance class). This score indicates extent of involvement with specific substances (tobacco, alcohol, cannabis, cocaine, ATS, inhalants, sedatives/sleeping pills, hallucinogens, opioids, and 'other drugs').

### Table 1 Scores derived from ASSIST V3.0 questionnaire

Domain	ASSIST Formula
Total Illicit Substance Involvement (Baseline & Follow-up)	$\sum Q_{1c-j} + 2_{c-j} + 3_{c-j} + 4_{c-j} + 5_{c-j} + 6_{c-j} + 7_{c-j} + 8$
(	(Max Score: 336)
Specific Substance Involvement	$\sum Q2_a + 3_a + 4_a + 6_a + 7_a$
	(Max Score: 31)
Specific Substance Involvement Score – for each substance,	$\sum Q2 + 3 + 4 + 5 + 6 + 7$ [addition of response to each question for each substance]
	(Max Score: 39)

### 2.5 Data Analysis

2.5.1 Quantitative Analysis

In order to assess the effectiveness of the Brief Intervention, comparisons of ASSIST scores at baseline and follow-up for both groups of participants (Control and BI) were conducted on several ASSIST substance scores (see Table 1 for calculation of scores). Control participants (who did not receive the brief intervention at baseline) were included in the analysis to control for the effects of time. A two-way repeated-measures ANOVA (General Linear Model) was conducted to determine the interaction effect on the following scores:

- ASSIST Total Illicit Substance Involvement Scores at baseline and follow-up for all participants.
- ASSIST Specific Substance Involvement Scores for participants receiving a specific BI for cannabis or ATS (tests could not be conducted on scores from participants who received a BI for opioids, or cocaine because the number of participants in these groups was too small).

In order to investigate whether any reduction in illicit drug use as a result of receiving the brief intervention resulted in substitution with increased alcohol or tobacco use at follow-up, paired t-tests were conducted on Alcohol and Tobacco Specific Substance Involvement Scores. In this analysis participants comprised only those receiving a BI at baseline, and each participant served as their own control between baseline and follow-up. Paired t-tests were conducted on:

 ASSIST Specific Substance Involvement scores for alcohol and tobacco for BI participants only.

The Control Group and the Brief Intervention Group also were compared at baseline to assess any differences between the two groups with regards to the number and type of illicit substances ever used and demographic profile.

```
2.5.2 Thematic Analysis on Participant Feedback at follow-up
A significant and innovative aspect of the resulting scores from ASSIST
screening, is that they allowed personalised feedback to participants regarding
their scores and the provision of information around their current patterns of
use and the risks associated with those scores. The scores also allow the
clinician to engage the client in a non-confrontational way using client-centred
```

techniques. This is the essence of a good brief intervention. This personalised feedback was specifically incorporated into the design of the ASSIST BI via the use of the ASSIST Feedback Report Card (See Appendix 2) to increase participants' understanding of the relationship between their substance taking behaviour and their health outcomes.

An integral aspect of this research project was to investigate the how participants perceived the feedback and information they had received and whether they had modified their attitude and substance use as a result. In order to achieve this, feedback from participants receiving the brief intervention was incorporated to determine the effectiveness of the ASSIST BI. The ASSIST Brief Intervention Process Rating Form (see Appendix 5) was administered at follow-up three months after baseline. This gave participants, who received a brief intervention at baseline, the opportunity to provide feedback on the process of the ASSIST-linked BI via a series of open-ended questions and/or rating scales. It is worth noting that participants were readministered the ASSIST questionnaire prior to the Brief Intervention Process Rating Form. The ASSIST Brief Intervention Process Rating Form focussed on three broad areas:

- General Information about participants' perceptions of feedback and information provided as part of the process of the BI;
- Specific questions concerning the information and feedback received during the session with the interviewer, and
- Specific questions concerning the written take-home information provided in the Substance Users Guide.

Descriptive statistics describing participants' self-report rating scale outcomes ascertained from the Brief Intervention Process Rating are presented using descriptive statistics.

Responses to each open-ended question (data set) were analysed using thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Responses in each data set were examined to identify similarities and/or differences and were manually coded into key themes. Themes were considered 'key' when there was a repeated occurrence of terms and/or phrases within the corpus of responses. More specifically, the patterned responses identified as key themes within each data set capture something important in relation to the research questions about the effectiveness of the BI. Where applicable, these themes were discussed in conjunction with results from participants' rating scales that formed part of the question. Implications arising from these results are also discussed.

### SECTION 3 RESULTS - DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS

### 3.1 Demographics

A total of 106 male and 65 female (N = 171) participants were recruited for the Australian study. The mean age of participants was 26 years and 1 month (sd = 6 yrs, median 24 years, range 17 - 45 yrs). The majority of participants identified themselves as White/Caucasian (162, 94.7%). One hundred and fifty six (91.2%) participants had never been married and ten (5.8%) reported they were currently living with a partner. Participants had an average of 13.4 years education (sd = 2.3 yrs, range 9 - 20 yrs), and 132 (77.2%) categorised themselves as employed and 39 (22.8%) as unemployed. Fifty-one participants (29.8%) indicated they were studying and of those 39 were employed and 12 were unemployed. The majority of participants (96.5%) indicated that they lived in their own home (either family home or rented accommodation) and only one participant lived in public housing (0.6%). The majority of participants reported having no particular religious preference or affiliation (n=120, 70.2%).

### 3.2 Treatment at baseline

All participants were randomised into two groups at baseline. The eighty-six participants who were randomly allocated to the BI group (50.3%) received a drug-specific BI at baseline and the 85 (49.7%) randomised to the wait list Control Group received a BI at follow up (approximately three months later). There were no significant differences between the Control Group and the BI group with regards to demographic profile, lifetime substance use, or ASSIST scores at baseline (i.e. Total Illicit Substance Involvement; Specific Substance Involvement).

Participants in each group also were randomised to a 'high' or 'low' use substance group depending on their gender and the score received for a particular substance at baseline. That is, participants scoring between 4 and 16 were allocated to the 'low score' category and those scoring 17-26 were allocated to the 'high score' category. However, it is worth noting that all these participants still were considered to be at "moderate risk" from their substance use. Table 2 below summarises the distribution of male and female participants across the high/low substance use in both the Brief Intervention and Control Groups. This information will be utilized in the larger international study to determine if gender or severity of score impacts on the outcome of the BI.

Randomised group	High	n or low su	bstance u	se group b	y gende	r n (%)
Substance group Brief Intervention (BI) or Control	Male High (32.7%)	Male Low (29.2%)	Female High (21.1%)	Female Low (17.0%)	Sub Total	Total
Cannabis - Bl	8	4	4	1	17	31
Cannabis - Control	6	4	3	1	14	(18.1%)
Cocaine - BI	1	4	0	0	5	9
Cocaine - Control	1	2	0	1	4	(5.3%)
ATS - BI	20	16	15	12	63	129
ATS - Control	20	19	13	14	66	(75.4%)
Opioid - BI	0	0	1	0	1	2
Opioid - Control	0	1	0	0	1	(1.2%)
Total	106 (	62%)	65 (3	38%)	171	171 (100%)

Table 2Substance Group Randomisation n (%)

Low score: 4 - 16; High score: 17 - 27.

3.2.1 Average number of days between baseline and follow up Table 3 below shows that the average period of time between the baseline and follow-up interview was just over three months (101.7 days). The time between the two interviews ranged from approximately two and a half months (80 days) to just over five months (158 days). The median (97 days) shows that the majority of follow-ups occurred close to the three month period.

Table 3Number of days between baseline and follow-up interview

Number of days between baseline interview and follow-up interview $N = 162$						
Range (days)	80 - 158					
Mean (SD)	101.71 (14.74)					
Median	97.00					

### 3.2.2 Previous treatment for substance use (N = 169)

A total of 15 (8.9%) participants indicated that they had received previous treatment for drug or alcohol problems (excluding nicotine). Fourteen of those provided further information: nine (60%) reporting having received treatment for ATS use; two (13.3%) for alcohol use; two (13.3%) for cannabis use, and one (6.7%) for opioid use. One person (6.7%) reported having treatment for both ATS and alcohol use. The main treatment received was counselling (53.7%) and one overdose episode (ATS) was reported. All treatment occurred more than three months prior to the commencement of the study and none of these participants were excluded from the study. The average period of time that had passed since receiving treatment was 2.53 years (median = 0.92 years, SD = 2.97).

### 3.2.3 Substance Involvement at Baseline

A summary of ASSIST scores obtained by the sample are shown in Table 4 below. These scores were calculated <u>only</u> for participants who scored positive (i.e. at least one) for the specific substance concerned. With regard to individual substances, the highest average score was for tobacco followed by ATS then cannabis and alcohol. The mean Total Illicit Substance Score at baseline was 45.26 (SD = 18.82, n = 171). Independent t-tests conducted to compare the BI Group and the Control Group mean scores revealed no significant differences in scores at baseline with regards to the number of substances ever used or Total Illicit Substance Involvement.

Specific Substance	Q1. Ever Used Lifetime N (%)	n (%) scoring positive for specific substance	ASSIST SSI mean score (SD)
Tobacco	168 (98.2)	142 (83.0)	18.68 (8.65)
Alcohol	171 (100.0)	169 (98.8)	12.61 (7.81)
Cannabis	169 (98.8)	143 (83.6)	12.75 (8.58)
Cocaine	118 (69.0)	61 (35.7)	4.66 (3.49)
ATS	166 (97.1)	152 (88.9)	14.95 (7.49)
Inhalants	81 (47.4)	31 (18.1)	3.42 (1.71)
Sedatives	87 (50.9)	44 (25.7)	5.45 (3.49)
Hallucinogens	134 (78.4)	56 (32.7)	3.86 (2.29)
Opioids	47 (27.5)	17 (9.9)	4.59 (1.84)
Other	30 (17.5)	6 (3.5)	3.17 (1.17)

### Table 4Summary of ASSIST scores obtained

3.2.4 Current Frequency of Substance Involvement

The substances most frequently used by participants in the last three months were alcohol, followed by ATS, then cannabis and tobacco (Table 5 below).

Table 5	Frequency of Substance Involvement Scores over last 3 months (Q.2).
10010 0	

		Frequency of use in past 3 months n				
Specific Substance	Used in past 3 months n (%)	Once or twice	Monthly	Weekly	Daily or almost daily	
Tobacco	132 (100.0)	12 (9.1)	3 (2.3)	19 (14.4)	98 (74.2)	
Alcohol	169 (100.0)	9 (5.3)	22 (13.0)	106 (62.7)	32 (19.0)	
Cannabis	134 (100.0)	31 (23.1)	27 (20.2)	34 (25.4)	42 (31.3)	
Cocaine	55 (100.0)	35 (63.7)	18 (32.7)	2 (3.6)	-	
ATS	150 (100.0)	31 (20.7)	70 (46.7)	48 (32.0)	1 (0.6)	
Inhalants	24 (100.0)	18 (75.0)	4 (16.7)	2 (8.3)	-	
Sedatives	39 (100.0)	19 (48.8)	10 (25.6)	10 (25.6)	-	
Hallucinogens	39 (100.0)	28 (71.8)	9 (23.1)	2 (5.1)	-	
Opioids	10 (100.0)	5 (50.0)	3 (30.0)	1 (10.0)	1 (10.0)	
'Other drugs'	3 (100.0)	2 (66.7)	1 (33.3)	-	-	

### 3.2.5 Time taken to administer ASSIST Questionnaire

Table 6 below shows the average time taken to administer the ASSIST at baseline and at follow-up. One (17 minute) interview at baseline, and one (21 minute) interview at follow-up were considered outliers and were removed from the calculations shown in the table below.

 Table 6
 Time (minutes) to administer ASSIST Questionnaire at Baseline and Follow-up

	Mean	Median	SD	Min	Max
Time taken to administer ASSIST					
Baseline (N = 170)	8.25	8.00	2.28	4.00	14.00
Follow-up (N = 161)	6.99	6.00	2.15	3.00	14.00

3.2.6 ASSIST Brief Intervention administered at baseline (N = 86)
Eighty six participants received a BI at baseline, the remaining 85 were randomised to the Control Group to receive a BI at follow-up. Of those receiving BI at baseline 63 (36.8%) were allocated to receive a BI for the use of ATS, 17 (9.9%) for cannabis, 5 (2.9%) for cocaine, and 1 (0.6 %) for opioids. The time taken to administer the BI at baseline ranged between 3 minutes (minimum) and 15 minutes (max), the average time was 7.66 minutes (SD 2.06 minutes).

# 3.2.7 Injecting behaviour at baseline (N = 170) The majority (81.8%) of participants had never injected any substance. Of the 31 participants who had injected, ten (5.9%) reported injecting within the past three months. For these participants the pattern of injecting was less than four times per month (on average). The remaining 21 (12.4%) reported having injected substances, but not in the past three months.

### 3.3 Follow-up

One hundred and sixty two participants took part in the follow-up study, representing a 95% follow-up rate. For ethical reasons, all participants randomised to the Control Group (n = 85) received a BI at follow-up after they had been re-administered the ASSIST. The follow-up Brief Intervention was administered for the substance for which participants recorded the highest score. Substances for which participants received the Brief Intervention followed the same pattern as those recorded at baseline (ATS, followed by cannabis, cocaine and opioids).

### 3.4 Inferential Statistical Analysis

3.4.1 Effect of the ASSIST BI on Total Illicit Substance Involvement Score All participants were included in the analysis, regardless of the substance targeted in the intervention (n = 162). Assumptions of normality, homogeneity of variance and sphericity were met. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA results (Table 7) showed that the group receiving the Brief Intervention at baseline had significantly lower mean Total Illicit Substance Involvement scores at follow-up compared with the Control group (F(1,160) = 14.68, p<0.001, observed power 97%, alpha=0.05). Results are shown graphically in Figure 1 below.

Table 7Total Illicit Substance Involvement Scores – BI and Control at Baseline and<br/>Follow-up

	Baseline Score (SD)	Follow-up Score (SD)	
Control Group (n=80)	43.4 (18.7)	42.3 (20.3)	
Brief Intervention (n=82)	47.2 (19.4)	39.0 (17.8)	





Total Illicit Substance Involvement scores over time, BI vs. Control

# 3.4.2 Effect of the ASSIST BI on Specific Cannabis Involvement Scores Participants included were those randomised to receive BI for cannabis involvement at baseline (n=17), and those randomised to the Control Group for cannabis involvement at follow-up (n=13). Assumptions of normality, homogeneity of variance and sphericity were met. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA (Table 8) revealed no statistically significant difference in Specific Cannabis Involvement scores at follow-up between the two cannabis groups (F(1,28) = 24.07, p = 0.137, observed power 31%, alpha=0.05). While not statistically significant, the results shown graphically in Figure 2 below indicate a trend in the direction of reduction of cannabis involvement for those receiving BI at baseline.

Table 8Specific Cannabis Involvement Scores – BI and Control at Baseline and<br/>Follow-up

	Baseline Score (SD)	Follow-up Score (SD)
Cannabis Control Group (n=13)	19.1 (7.8)	18.7 (7.9)
Cannabis Brief Intervention (n=17)	20.2 (5.3)	17.2 (6.2)



Figure 2 Specific Cannabis Involvement scores over time, BI vs. Control

3.4.3 Effect of the ASSIST BI on Specific ATS Involvement Score
Participants included were those randomised to receive Brief Intervention for
ATS Involvement at baseline (n=59), and those randomised to Control Group
for ATS at follow-up (n=63). Assumptions of normality, homogeneity of
variance and sphericity were met. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA (Table
9) showed that the group receiving the Brief Intervention at Baseline had
significantly lower Specific ATS Involvement scores at follow-up compared with
the Control group (F(1,120) = 7.89, p <0.01, observed power 80%,</li>
alpha=0.05). Results are shown graphically in Figure 3 below.

 Table 9
 Specific ATS Involvement Scores – BI and Control at Baseline and Follow-up

	Baseline Score (SD)	Follow-up Score (SD)
ATS Control Group (n=63)	15.5 (7.0)	13.6 (8.0)
ATS Brief Intervention (n=59)	17.4 (7.0)	12.2 (7.3)



Figure 3

Specific ATS Involvement scores over time, BI vs. Control

3.4.4 Changes in Specific Alcohol Involvement Scores and Tobacco Involvement Scores in BI participants over time Participants included were those randomised to receive a Brief Intervention for any illicit drug at baseline (n=82). Assumptions of normality, homogeneity of variance and sphericity were met. Paired t-tests (Table 10) showed no statistically significant difference between the baseline and follow-up scores for Specific Alcohol Involvement Scores. Specific Tobacco Involvement Scores tended to decrease over time.

Table 10BI Group only – Specific Alcohol Involvement score and Specific Tobacco<br/>Involvement Score at Baseline and Follow-up

	Baseline Score (SD)	Follow-up Score (SD)	t, p value
ASSIST Specific Tobacco Involvement Scores (n=82)	16.3 (10.4)	15.3 (10.1)	t=1.96, p=0.053
ASSIST Specific Alcohol Involvement Scores (n=82)	11.8 (7.8)	11.1 (7.9)	t=1.2, p=0.234

Evidence for the efficacy and successful implementation of brief interventions for illicit drugs within primary health care settings is limited. Brief intervention studies reported in the literature most frequently target at-risk populations of alcohol users, while a small proportion focus on targeting illicit drug use. Methodologies in these studies are varied and range from various forms of counselling and feedback, to more formal structured therapy (Barry *et al.*, 2004).

The majority of the recruitment sample for this randomized controlled study were Caucasian, reasonably well educated and tended to be employed, and were reflective of the type of client attending this particular Primary Health Care site. There were no demographic differences between the Control and BI groups, and while a small proportion of the sample had injected drugs and/or had received treatment for AOD problems, this was not a sample of dependent drug users. Follow-up rates in this study were very high (95%) and the main findings of this study indicate that the ASSIST is an acceptable and timely way of screening for risky substance use in a primary health care setting and can be linked easily into a BI.

The results indicate that the ASSIST linked BI effectively reduces total illicit substance involvement, regardless of the substance of focus. Moreover, the results show a significant reduction in specific substance involvement of ATS use for those participants receiving that specific BI. While the effect for cannabis was not statistically significant, the trend for those receiving the BI was downwards and this non-significant result most probably reflects the small sample size rather than a lack of efficacy.

Use of illicit substances often occurs within a context of use of other substances, including alcohol and tobacco. Moreover, there is empirical evidence that reduction in one illicit substance such as heroin, can result in substitution and with increased use of another substance (Fairbank *et al.*, 1993; Topp *et al.*, 2003), and this phenomenon also has been observed within the naturalistic setting. Results from this study demonstrate the implementation of the BI and resulting reduction in illicit substance use, does not appear to
result in increased uptake of alcohol or tobacco, and in fact it appears that it may have had the effect of reducing the use of tobacco.

This study was concerned with treatment efficacy, and the results demonstrate that the ASSIST-linked BI is effective in reducing substance use as measured by ASSIST scores after a three month period within an Australian Primary Health Care setting.

#### SECTION 5 ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION OF FEEDBACK ON BI

#### 5.1 Participants' rating of the Brief Intervention Process

The ASSIST Brief Intervention Process Rating form (see Appendix 5) was administered at the follow-up interview (approximately three months after baseline). This rating form gave participants, who received a brief intervention at baseline, the opportunity to provide feedback via a series of open-ended questions and rating scales. Participant feedback was sought about the process of the BI including: responses to the information received as part of the BI; whether or not the self-help materials were read, and whether the BI procedure changed substance use behaviour. Participants also provided feedback on which aspect(s) of the BI they remembered most and which aspects were most influential (if any) in changing substance taking behaviour. Participants were aware that they were involved in a research project concerned with their responses to a questionnaire that measured their substance use, and also the ways in which they responded to the intervention and feedback given to them about their drug use however, the term 'brief intervention' was not used during any discussions with participants.

#### 5.1.1 Overview of Analysis

Participants' responses for each question were considered to be a data set and each response was allocated an individual identification number; these numbers are shown in brackets at the end of the respective response. Where necessary [square brackets] surround words inserted for purposes of clarity. Responses to each open-ended question were coded using thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Responses in each data set were examined for similarities and/or differences, and themes were identified and coded manually. The analyses of several themes identified are presented below and where applicable, these themes are discussed in conjunction with results from participants' rating scales.

#### 5.2 General Feedback on the ASSIST BI

Eighty-two (95.4%) of the 86 participants who received the ASSIST-linked BI at baseline were available for follow up at three months. Of those, 78 (95.1%) agreed to comment on their understanding of the purpose of the feedback and information they received on substance use as part of the BI. One dominant theme: '*Becoming aware*' and two minor themes '*I don't know*' and '*Just to inform me*' were identified from the analysis of these comments.

#### 5.2.1 'Becoming aware'

Participants frequently commented that the information and feedback they received as part of the BI had made them 'realise' or become 'more aware' of their substance use and also of the potential side effects of such use. The way in which participants expressed this common theme of 'becoming aware' varied. For example, several participants referred directly to their increased understanding of the harms, side effects and health consequences of continued use:

- Increased my awareness and the implications of my drug use (15).
- Made me realise [that] what I was doing to myself health-wise wasn't worth the outcomes (i.e. health problems). Made me think, stop and realise if it's worth feeling sick in morning after using. Made me aware of consequences of use, of feeling depressed after heavy session (25).
- Makes you aware of the health effects of using these substances (51).
- To make me aware of what substances were doing of the consequences (65).
- Look at consequences of my drug use harms to me(20).
- Information on my drug use gave me perspective on the harmful aspects (50).

Other participants spoke specifically about becoming more aware of their levels of consumption and the effects of that consumption:

- To help me identify what my drug use is like (quantity) and the problems I may encounter if I continue using (56).
- Identifying my usage levels and realising the danger of using these drugs (13).

31

- Increase awareness/to bring to my attention what my intake was (14).
- Made me aware of risks and how much I had been taking (23).

Comments, such as those outlined above, were representative of the kinds of positive feedback received from participants about the BI process and its ability to raise their awareness about the level of their substance use and subsequent potential health effects of continued use. Evidence of participants' increased awareness of levels of use and possible consequences of continued use suggest that the BI facilitated movement from pre-contemplation to contemplation (Prochaska & Di Clemente, 1982; Prochaska *et al.*, 2004). In the theme *Becoming Aware* the overall message about the purpose of the feedback and information participants received is perhaps best summed up by a comment made by one participant who said the BI was like a "*Slap in the face it woke me up to realise what I was doing*" (40).

Although it was clear that the majority of participants responded positively to the feedback and information they received, the two minor themes described below illustrate this was not the case for all participants.

### 5.2.2 'I don't know' and 'Just to inform me'

For example, two participants reported that they had 'no idea' what the BI was about:

- Can't remember-probably to help me cut down my drug use (4).
- Don't know really (7).

And a few participants reported that they thought the main aim of the BI was simply to provide information:

- Just to inform me (17).
- To give people information about their drug use (53).

Although these kinds of comments were made by a minority of participants they stand as a reminder that, despite the overall success of the BI, when it comes to instigating change the BI process is unlikely to suit everyone. 5.3 Influence of ASSIST BI on health behaviour

Participants were asked to rate the influence of the ASSIST-linked BI on their health behaviour on a five point Likert scale (rating scale: 1 = 'no influence', 5 = 'completely influenced'). The bar chart below (see Figure 4) shows the majority of participants (78%) rated the influence of the ASSIST BI at two or more (N=82).

#### Figure 4 Brief Intervention group – rating of influence on health behaviour

25 20 Frequency 15 10 5 0 2.5 3.0 3.5 1.0 2.0 4.0 5.0 1.5 4.5 Rating of influence on health behaviour 1 = 'No reduction', 5 = 'Completely Stopped'

Comments made by participants who rated the influence of the BI at two or

more (64, 78%) were analysed separately from those who rated the influence at one (18, 22%). Three broad themes '*I've cut down*', '*I've stopped using*' and '*I'm thinking about it*' were identified from the analysis of comments from the 64 participants who stated the ASSIST BI did influence their health behaviour (rating 2 or more). Two related themes '*Heard it all before*' and '*It*'s not an *issue*' were identified from the analysis of comments made by the 18 participants who claimed the ASSIST-linked BI had 'no influence' on their health behaviour'. The five themes arising from these two groups are presented separately below.

#### 5.3.1 'I've cut down'

The most dominant theme identified, from the analysis of those who rated the influence of the ASSIST-linked BI on their health behaviour at two or more, centred around issues of 'cutting down'. For example, many of these participants stated that the information they received confirmed what they already knew and this provided the impetus for cutting down:

- Clarified what I already knew about drugs and make me aware of risks. It was the impetus for changing behaviour (2).
- Thought about side effects and risks and decided to cut down on cigarettes, drinking and amphetamines. Cemented what I already knew (62).
- Survey made me see how I was using drugs and made me more aware, more conscious of the problems associated with drug use. I did cut down my ATS use (60).

Several participants also made mention of specific actions they had taken to cut down their substance use. These actions included the usefulness of keeping the 'drug diary':

- Made me realise how much I was smoking (cannabis) I also kept a drug diary and I was surprised by how much I was using. My smoking was due to boredom. I keep myself busy (new girlfriend) now and do not smoke much at all (32).
- Made me realise to what extent my intake was/how much money I was using. Made a point of keeping a drug diary and reducing because I realised the extent of my use (33).

#### or setting goals:

• Cut down on ATS & alcohol use. Set some financial goals-trying to save money-limited the amount of money I take with me so that I don't buy drugs. I'm focusing in on my health-exercise more (6). or seeking further help by consulting other professionals:

- It made me stop and think about what I was doing. I looked at my habits. Asked other health professionals about potential harms of my drug use (23).
- Cut down ATS use. Went and got checkup by doctor. Found booklet informative and made me aware of harms (5).

Di Clemente (1999) points out that engagement in these action-orientated kinds of activities can be seen as clear indicators of motivated behaviour:

Motivation for change has been related to treatment seeking, treatment attendance (going to treatment sessions), and treatment participation (talking in group, doing homework, participating in exercises) (Di Clemente & Prochaska, 1998, Smith Subich, & Kolodner, 1995 cited in (Di Clemente, 1999)).

The comments in the theme '*I've cut down*' above highlight some of the direct ways in which participants related their actions of cutting down to feedback and information they received as part of the BI. These comments suggest that participating in the BI process motivated these participants to engage in action-orientated behaviour.

#### 5.3.2 'I've stopped using'

While most participants indicated they had seriously 'cut down' on their substance use, a few participants reported a complete change in lifestyle since their participation in the study:

- Gave me self worth-changed my whole life. We changed our entire environment, cut connection with all users. Didn't go to parties and made a decision to stop using. My health has improved and I feel great (14).
- Stopped using and haven't since (58).
- Stopped using everything completely (59).

The comments outlined in the two themes above focused on 'cutting down' and 'stopping' substance use and they can be seen to represent of the kinds of comments made by participants who had resolved their ambivalence. However,

in the following theme '*I'm thinking about it*' participants' comments show a continued ambivalence about drug use.

#### 5.3.3 'I'm thinking about it'

These participants indicated they were influenced by information provided and they were weighing up their current behaviour with future actions:

- Taken information seriously weighing up whether to give up weighing up pros and cons of giving up (61).
- Hasn't influenced my behaviour so far but has reinforced my belief that smoking can't be a long-term habit and that I must cut down. I have plans to cut down over the next few weeks (18).
- Made me more aware, thinking about consequences and long term effects and what will need to happen down the track (25).

Some participants indicated that they had started to think about the link between specific drug use and health consequences.

- Started thinking about dangers associated with smoking cannabis & tobacco (56).
- It made me realise that my drug use was probably linked to my depression and that I should reduce (22).

The comments grouped under the theme '*I'm thinking about it*' are consistent with what would be expected from people who are 'contemplating' change (Prochaska & Di Clemente, 1982). Although these comments indicate that these participants have not yet changed their pattern of substance use, many of these comments still show that the BI had influenced their thinking about the health implications of their behaviour, and as such they indicate a potential for change in the future.

The final two related themes, '*Heard it all before*' and '*It*'s not an issue' were identified from the analysis of comments from the 18 (22%) participants who reported that the feedback and information they had received as part of the ASSIST-linked BI had no influence on their health behaviour (who rated the question at one).

#### 5.3.4 'Heard it all before'

These participants reported they had not changed their health behaviour as a result of the BI - either because they were already aware of the information or they were set in their ways and therefore the information had little or no influence on them:

- Already aware of dangers (1).
- Heard it before (9).
- Heard the stuff before (10).
- I'm set in my ways (11).

The kinds of comments outlined above convey a level of resistance to accepting substance use information – they've heard it all before and there seems to be little motivation for change.

#### 5.3.5 'It's not an issue'

The comments that make up the second theme can be seen to add a slightly different perspective to the theme outlined above. In this theme participants intimate that not only have they heard it before, but it is their previous knowledge about problem drug behaviour that enables them to say that their own substance taking behaviour is not problematic.

- Consider myself a 'safe drug user' and therefore do not think I have a problem (6).
- Don't think I read the information. I am happy with my level of using and don't think I'm in any danger (13).
- Class myself as well informed re drugs. I don't believe I am in a hazardous group, i.e. drug use (5).
- Choosing to smoke at the moment. I know the risks associated with it (4).

As such the comments in the two related themes above convey the idea that participants have previously engaged with information on substance use and therefore their decision not to change their own substance taking behaviour can be seen as an active choice. Comments chosen to illustrate the first three themes above (*I've cut down*; *I've stopped using* and *I'm thinking about it*) capture the main ideas put forward by the majority of participants who reported their health behaviours were influenced by the BI. In order to explore the extent of this influence on their health behaviour participants were asked to indicate whether they actually reduced their substance use and, if they did, how long they maintained this reduction.

#### 5.4 Did you reduce your substance use?

Fifty-nine (72%) participants indicated that they did attempt to reduce their substance use after receiving feedback and information at baseline. These participants were asked to rate the extent to which they reduced their substance use (1 = 'No Reduction'; 5 = 'Completely Stopped') and the median response was 3.

Fifty-five (67%) participants provided information on the length of time they had managed to maintain their reduction in substance use. The average time participants maintained their reduction of substance use was 10.8 weeks. The maximum length of time was 18 weeks, and the minimum was 2 weeks (sd = 3.4 weeks, median = 12 weeks).

#### 5.5 What influenced your health behaviour?

Participants were also invited to comment on which aspects of the information and feedback most influenced their health behaviour (substance use). The analysis below describes three related aspects of the information and feedback identified by participants as influential: 1) the score, 2) the interview and 3) hearing myself speak. Each of these three aspects relate to a single notion that can be expressed as one dominant theme: '*Identifying and defining the problem*'.

#### 5.6 Identifying and defining 'the problem'

#### 5.6.1 'The score'

Several participants spoke specifically about the way in which receiving a 'score' influenced their health behaviour. For example, for quite a few participants having a score made 'it' (the substance taking behaviour) more real:

- The score put it into perspective, it made it more definite more objective (43).
- Seeing it on paper and the risk score (44).
- The score on the form more than anything was pertinent to me as a number. I take more notice of numbers than words (42).
- The score (54).

Other participants commented that being presented with a score helped them connect their substance use with symptoms they were experiencing:

- High score on ATS and associated symptoms and I can relate my use to those symptoms (12).
- Realising that cannabis use has been linked with depression (which I have experienced) and linked with mood problems (37).

Another aspect of receiving a score that participants commented upon was that having a score highlighted the risk factors associated with substance use and a number of participants specifically mentioned being surprised by the score they received:

- The score. I was surprised at my score for BZD, it was higher than I thought it would be (57).
- The score was high and made me think "why am I doing this so much"? (56).
- Scale presenting at what level of risk I was of experiencing problems i.e. moderate risk (41).

The ASSIST scores provided as part of the BI provides participants with a unique 'measure' of their illicit substance use and the risks associated with that use. Participants' comments outlined above show that they valued the way in which the ASSIST score they received as part of the BI gave them the ability to 'quantify' and 'objectify' their substance taking behaviour. Clearly the score was considered an important part of participants' ability to gain an understanding of their current health problems. Importantly, participants' comments also demonstrate that the score also enabled them to make the connections between their substance taking behaviour and their future risk of developing particular health problems. One participant captures the essence of comments made around the influence of the 'score':

 Having a summary of it all really influenced my behaviour - when I saw my score it really had an impact. When I go out now and see other people using it makes me think "God did I look that stupid". It's disgusting actually (9).

#### 5.6.2 'The interview'

A number of participants referred to the ways in which the BI interview confirmed, or helped them make the important connection between their substance use and harmful effects:

- Drawing links between using drugs and harmful effects. It was an opportunity to reflect on my drug use and realise that many of the effects and problems I was experiencing were probably related to drug use (4).
- The whole thing about the amphetamines and the risk level associated with use. The study really opened my eyes as to what is going on, I haven't been hanging around the same people [anymore](60).
- The session focused my thinking on drug use and effects. It has become a goal of mine to reduce my drug use (58).
- I wanted to do it myself (cut down drug use). The interview made me stop and think about my drug use. The information was useful and the interview wasn't too long which was good (15).

Making the connection between substance taking behaviour and outcomes is a vital aspect of motivating change and previous research has shown that substance users are more likely to change their behaviour if they can connect their substance use with any related problem (Miller & Rollnick, 1991). The comments above support the idea that, for some participants at least, the BI interview provided them with an opportunity to stop and think about their substance taking behaviour, and realise that their substance use is affecting their health and, importantly, they that can change their substance using behaviour.

#### 5.6.3 'Hearing myself speak'

Participants' comments identified in this theme suggest that it was during the process of actually verbalising answers to questions about their substance that they came to appreciate the significance of the substance taking behaviour. The comments below were chosen to highlight some of the more common realizations participants mentioned they came to in the process of answering the BI questions and talking about their substance use:

- Answering the questions made me realise how much I was using. The talk afterwards was also helpful and I was able to weigh up the good and bad (1).
- Asking me how much I use made me realise what I'm putting my body through (2).
- Me telling you the bad things about using just clicked in my head and I thought "What am I doing"? (23).
- Talking about it and realising they (opioids) are addictive and getting the score-seeing it in black and white really hit home (46).
- Talking about it and verbalising it (47).
- Talking about my drug was putting in my thoughts (48).

The practice of providing people with the opportunity to weigh up the pros and cons of their behaviour in a non-confrontational manner is a key factor in motivational interviewing (Miller & Rollnick, 2002). Although MI is considered a client centred approach, it is not applied entirely without direction and one important intention of MI is to ensure that it is the client who voices the arguments for change (Miller & Rollnick, 2002). Integral to the success of brief motivational interviewing is the ability to elicit 'change talk' from participants and this is fundamentally linked to the interviewers' ability to empathise and listen reflectively (Miller & Rollnick, 2002). These ideas have there foundations in social psychology, and in particular self-perception theory which posits that as one argues on behalf of a particular position he or she becomes more committed to that position:

"In the language of self-perception theory, "As I hear myself talk, I learn what I believe." In everyday language we can literally *talk* ourselves into (or out of) things (Bem, 1967, 1972, cited in Miller, 2002, p. 21).

41

The success of incorporating these motivational interviewing techniques into the ASSIST-linked BI is clearly evident in the comments outlined above, which illustrate some of the ways in which participants' valued the opportunity to hear themselves talk about the effects of their substance use more fully. These comments also indicate that the opportunity to generate such 'change-talk' played an integral role in positively influencing their health behaviour. As one participant put it, they were influenced by *thinking, and thinking objectively about drug use, rather than rationalizing your use to your self* (61). Moreover, research suggests that people who generate self-motivated behaviour for change are more likely and more willing to maintain that change (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Ryan, 1995).

While the comments above indicate the majority of participants valued the information and feedback they received as part of the ASSIST BI, there were nevertheless a few participants who simply stated that the information and feedback did not influence their behaviour; it merely confirmed what they already knew:

- Feel like I knew a fair bit about it already. I was not really influenced by the feedback (7).
- No influence (25).
- Not really. Revision of what I already knew (27).
- No influence on my drug using behaviour. I thought about how much I used and how it was affecting me but came to the conclusion that I use safely (26).
- It reinforced what I already knew (39).

These comments are indicative of what would be expected from participants whose behaviour was not influenced by the BI. As with the comments identified in the two related themes *Heard it all before* and *It's not an issue* described earlier, they are likely to represent those participants have remained 'pre-contemplative'. It was not expected that the BI would influence the health behaviour of all participants.

#### 5.7 Analysis and discussion on feedback on 'Self-help' material

At completion of the BI at baseline participants were given a self-help booklet containing material designed to reinforce information discussed during the brief intervention (Humeniuk *et al.,* 2003). At the three month follow-up each participant was asked whether they recalled receiving the booklet, how much of it they read, and how useful they found it. Analysis and discussion of participant responses to these questions is presented below.

#### 5.7.1 How much of the 'Self-help' booklet did you read?

Each of the seventy-eight participants (95.1%) who recalled receiving the selfhelp strategies booklet at baseline were asked to rate how much of it they had read (1 = none, and 5 = read all). Sixty-three participants (80.8%) reported reading some of the book (rating 1.5 or more) and of those 19 (24.4%) reported having read it all (rating 5).

Those participants who reported having read little or none (rated '2' or less) of the self-help booklet were asked "what stopped you from reading through all of the booklet?" (36, 46.1%). The most common response given for not reading the booklet related to lack of time or interest:

- Couldn't be bothered-not the right time (3).
- Lack of interest/time (18).
- Moving house and busy (19).

A few participants claimed that they did not read the information because they did not need it - either because they were already aware of 'this kind of stuff' or it 'wasn't relevant' to them. The following response was typical of these kinds of claims:

• Aware of much of the information - did not think I needed to read it all (2).

Two of the participants who reported they 'already knew' or 'couldn't be bothered' also mentioned that they resisted reading the information because their prior knowledge also made them feel 'like an idiot' or they 'didn't want to hear what it was telling them':

- Already have a knowledge of this kind of stuff. Reading it makes me feel like an idiot (1).
- Partly did not have time, couldn't be bothered, and I didn't want to hear what it was telling me, sort of know some of it already (28).

The above comments highlight that those participants who did not read the self-help material most frequently referred to a lack of time or inclination.

#### 5.7.2 How useful was the self-help booklet?

Those participants who indicated that they had read some or all the self-help booklet (rating 2 or more) were asked to rate the usefulness of this material (56, 71.8%). Five areas of 'usefulness' were explored:

- 1. helping them understand their level of risk;
- 2. weighing up the positive and negatives of using (drug);
- 3. understanding options concerning changing their drug use;
- 4. providing realistic strategies and guidelines for change, and
- 5. whether it actually helped them cut down or stop using.

Four responses were available for the five areas of usefulness ('Not at all useful', 'Somewhat useful', 'Very useful' or 'Don't know').

The majority of participants found the information in the self-booklet useful (combining the categories 'somewhat useful' and 'very useful') for understanding their level of risk, weighing up their drug use, and providing them with realistic strategies and guidelines. Understanding options about changing drug use and helping cut down on drug use were also rated positively, but less so than the previous three categories (see Table 11 below).

#### Table 11How useful was the booklet for ...? n(%)

How useful was the booklet?:	Not at all useful	Somewhat useful	Very useful	Don't know	Total N (%)
Understanding your level of risk?	3 (5.4)	27 (48.2)	19 (33.9)	7 (12.5)	56 (100.0)
Weighing up your drug use?	4 (7.1)	29 (51.8)	17 (30.4)	6 (10.7)	56 (100.0)
Understanding your options about changing drug use?	12 (21.4)	18 (32.1)	16 (28.6)	10 (17.9)	56 (100.0)
Providing realistic strategies & guidelines?	9 (16.1)	22 (39.3)	16 (28.6)	9 (16.1)	56 (100.0)
Helping you cut down on drug use?	16 (28.6)	19 (33.9)	15 (26.8)	6 (10.7)	56 (100.0)

#### 5.8 Participants' final comments

At the conclusion of the follow-up interview, participants were asked whether there was anything else they would like to say about their participation in this project and a total of 55 participants took the opportunity to comment. Analysis revealed the majority of comments were positive and participants expressed the benefits they gained from taking part in the study in a variety of ways. For example, several participants stated that the ASSIST-linked BI was a 'good program' and that it had made them think about their substance use:

- Good program. Made me think about my drug use (20).
- Good. Very informative. Made me think about my drug use (19).
- More people should participate because it is an eye-opener (35).
- Weighing up drug use, the negatives have started to outweigh the positives (59).
- It was well done (32).

Others drew attention to particular aspects of the process that they found beneficial. For example:

- Discussion after administering questionnaire was very good and gave an opportunity for talking about personal issues (10).
- One on one session good. Comfortable and easygoing session. Very discreet. Not too long (47).
- It was straight forward and clear. I learned a bit from information presented (31).

The comments above highlight the importance of being able to deliver a brief, one on one session that provides targeted clear and straightforward information.

Participants also made specific mention of the importance of feedback:

- Feedback was best part of it. It would be good for people who are using more drugs (15).
- Good to have the personal feedback it makes it more meaningful (21).

Perhaps the most interesting aspect of the final feedback comments about the ASSIST-linked BI was the frequency with which participants connected their behaviour change to issues of 'timing' or 'readiness' . For example, a few participants talked about the idea that people had to be 'ready' to change:

- You have to be ready for the information to have an effect (60).
- Depends on where you are in life as to whether you are ready to stop (7).

Many of the participants' who reported that they had changed their substance taking behaviour connected this resultant change of behaviour in a positive way to the 'timing' of their participation in this study:

- Feels like the BI session and booklet was really "meant to be". Thank you (16).
- [the BI] Came at right time (4).
- Just what I needed, it came at right time. Have since thought about the baseline interview at least once a week (33).
- The score and symptoms. Just came at the right time (56).
- Timely influence and reminder (57).

Despite the success of the BI there remained a few participants who indicated that they did not change their substance taking behaviour:

- [...] I wasn't ready as I am happy with the level of my drug use (42).
- Done well [the BI]. I'm just not ready to give up. I only use very occasionally (12).

These comments illustrate that for some participants the idea of 'not being ready' legitimated not changing their substance taking behaviour. Importantly however, the 'not ready yet' quality of these comments also confirms that participants understand that substance taking behaviour is a non-static behaviour that is amenable to change, and therefore these comments also allude to the possibility of change at some future time – just not now.

The idea that substance taking behaviour is amenable to change was also alluded to in a different way by several participants who commented on the way in which their substance taking behaviour was connected to circumstantial events in their personal life:

- I didn't care about my drug use. Initially put book aside, it's a very personal thing and it depends on personal circumstances whether the information you receive is meaningful and if it has effect. Recently I met someone so drugs are not important anymore (25).
- I wasn't ready then but I am ready now because it is stuffing up my life (58).
- My use was predominantly tied to my wife's death and coping with it (36).

Comments such as these indicate that some participants have made the connection between their substance use and particular life circumstances. Moreover, participants' ability to place their substance taking behaviour on a continuum of time (which is their life) highlights their understanding that substance taking behaviour can have a past, a present and a future. Importantly, these comments confirm that these participants recognise that their substance taking behaviour is a not a feature of their personality or a

static character trait, and thus there always remains the possibility of changing behaviour in the future.

It is clear that many participants in this study related to the idea that there is a 'right time for change'. It is also clear that the idea that there is a 'right time for change' can be drawn upon to support either the instigation of, or the deferment of change. One of the founding principles of the 'readiness to change' model is its connection to motivation and the movement through the continuum of change; from pre-contemplation to contemplation and on to action (Miller & Rollnick, 2002). Participants' comments point to the successful and appropriate incorporation of motivational interviewing techniques (Miller & Rollnick, 2002) with a brief intervention that incorporates ASSIST scores to bring attention to the less positive aspects (risks) of continued substance use in a way elicits the person's own reasons for and advantages of changes. The overall results of this study show that participants allocated to the Brief Intervention Group did change their substance taking behaviour when compared to the Control group, indicating that the implementation of the ASSIST-linked BI facilitated participants' 'readiness to change'.

#### SECTION 6 CONCLUDING COMMENTS

Historically, the evidence for the efficacy and successful implementation of screening-linked brief interventions for illicit drugs within primary health care settings has been limited. Brief intervention studies reported in the literature most frequently target at-risk population of alcohol users and the few that target illicit drug use tend to last longer than 30 minutes (Barry et al., 2004). Barriers to screening and brief interventions include time, patient defensiveness and the skills of primary health care staff (Barry et al., 2004). The overarching aim of this study was concerned with treatment efficacy, and the results demonstrate that the ASSIST-linked BI is effective in reducing substance use as measured by ASSIST Scores after a three month period within an Australian primary health care setting.

The results obtained from this study indicate that the ASSIST-linked BI effectively reduces Total Illicit Substance Involvement regardless of the focus of the BI, and significantly reduces ATS involvement for those participants receiving a BI targeting amphetamine-type stimulants. While the effect for cannabis was not statistically significant, the trend for those receiving a BI for cannabis was downwards and this result most probably reflects the small sample size rather than a lack of efficacy. Participants' direct reference to the reduction of the specific substances also supports the efficacy of allocating participants to targeted intervention groups (cannabis, ATS, etc) and these results study clearly indicate that, tailoring information toward specific substances that are of relevance to individual participants, makes the information provided in the BI personally relevant.

The use of illicit substances often occurs in conjunction with the use of other substances, including alcohol and tobacco. Moreover, there is evidence that reduction in one illicit substance such as heroin, can result in substitution and or increased use of another substance (Fairbank *et al.*, 1993; Topp *et al.*, 2003), and this phenomenon also has been observed in the naturalistic settings. Results from this study demonstrate that the reduction in illicit drug use due to the implementation of the ASSIST-linked BI does not appear to result in increased uptake of alcohol or tobacco and indeed, it appears that use of these substances has decreased.

The focus of the ASSIST-linked BI was on the facilitation of change. A "key in eliciting change" is producing ambivalence as an essential aspect of change, as without ambivalence there is nothing to resolve (Miller & Rollnick, 2002). A major factor in the success of the ASSIST-linked BI is the incorporation of motivational interviewing techniques that consciously direct focus on intentionally resolving ambivalence. The ASSIST-linked BI gives substance users the opportunity to voluntarily enter into an intentional process of change rather than being coerced by a partner, health worker, or legal authority.

The themes identified in the analysis of participant responses to the ASSISTlinked BI highlighted some of the benefits participants obtained from participating in this BI and in particular the value they placed on personalised feedback. For participants, a valued and important feature of personalised feedback in this BI was the provision of a personal baseline ASSIST score for their illicit substance use. The ASSIST-linked BI is unique in that it offers participants a baseline illicit drug use score against which they can 'measure' the risks around their own illicit substance use. Participants' noted that having an illicit drug use score helped bring attention to the less positive aspects (risks) of continued substance use.

Not only does the baseline score provide participants with a 'measure' of the own illicit substance use it also provides a non-judgmental focal point for the open ended questions that aim to explore and resolve participant ambivalence. The ASSIST score provides a means of focussing the BI on participant concerns, which enables participants' to hear themselves talk about their current health status and their risk(s) of developing future health problems. Participants' can explore their own illicit substance use in a way that helps bring forth their own reasons for changing some of the less positive aspects of continued use (risks) and helps elicit intrinsic motivations for behaviour change (Miller & Rollnick, 2002). The analysis of participants' comments also suggests that participant resistance and defensiveness to the ASSIST-linked BI was low and, overall, participants' health behaviour responses to the intervention were positive. The notion that there was minimal resistance from participants was also reinforced by the empirical findings, which showed that most participants managed to cut down their substance use - some completely - while only a few participants did not change their health behaviour at all.

Exactly what makes people 'ready' for change has been the subject of much clinical and academic debate, and while this study does not identify 'markers' of readiness to change, the inferential results and the analysis of participants' comments point to the successful development of a brief intervention for illicit substance use that has integrated ASSIST scores with motivational interviewing techniques. Furthermore, the analysis of participants' perceptions on their experiences of undertaking the BI supports participant validity of the BI process.

One of the distinct advantages of the ASSIST-linked BI is its brevity (median 8 minutes); an administration time that would undoubtedly be a clear advantage in primary health care settings. In terms of primary health care staff skills, it is intended that this intervention should be relatively easy to implement by primary health care staff and as such the ASSIST-linked BI has been developed based on nine simple steps that are easy to follow and require no previous motivational interviewing training. Moreover, comments received from participants regarding the impact of the opportunity to engage, albeit briefly, in discussion about their substance use behaviour confirms that positive changes in health behaviour can be achieved through the implementation of a brief intervention linked to ASSIST scores.

Responses received from participants confirm both the effectiveness of the ASSIST-linked BI in reducing targeted illicit substance use and the validity of the screening intervention process. Accordingly, 72% of participants did attempt to cut down on their substance use as a result of being engaged in the process. Follow-up rates in this study were very high (95%) and when the inferential results are viewed in conjunction with the thematic analysis of participants' responses to the BI they confirm that the ASSIST-linked BI is a

51

brief, acceptable, and simple to administer process of screening for risky substance use in a primary health care setting - and one that provides substance users with a timely and welcome opportunity for change.

• I was thinking about cutting down and your information just cemented this. The interview was good-the info useful-self help book really helped me (41).

#### SECTION 7 REFERENCES

- Babor, T. F., de la Fuente, J. R., Saunders, J., & Grant, M. (1989). The alcohol use disorders identification test: Guidelines for use in primary health care. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Babor, T. F., & Higgins-Biddle, J. C. (2001). Brief intervention for hazardous and harmful drinking. A manual for use in primary care: World Health Organisation.
- Babor, T. F., Higgins-Biddle, J. C., Saunders, J. B., & Monteiro, M. G. (2001). The alcohol use disorders identification test (AUDIT): Guidelines for use in primary care. (Second ed.): World Health Organisation.
- Baker, A., Boggs, T. G., & Lewin, T. J. (2001). Randomised controlled trial of brief cognitivebehavioural interventions among regular users of amphetamine. *Addiction*, 96, 1279-1287.
- Barry, K. L., Blow, F. C., Willenbring, M., McCormack, R., Brockmann, L. M., & Visnic, S. (2004). Use of alcohol screening and brief interventions in primary care settings: Implementation and barriers. *Substance Abuse, 25*(1), 27-36.
- Bashir, K., King, M., & Ashworth, M. (1994). Controlled evaluation of brief intervention by general practitioners to reduce chronic use of benzodiazepines. *British Journal of General Practice, 44*, 408-412.
- Bernstein, J., Bernstein, E., Tassiopoulos, K., Heeren, T., Levenson, S., & Hingson, R. (2004).
   Brief motivational intervention at a clinic visit reduces cocaine and heroin use. *Drug* and Alcohol Dependence, 77(1), 49-59.
- Bien, T. H., Miller, W. R., & Tonigan, S. (1993). Brief interventions for alcohol problems: A review. Addiction, 88, 315-336.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3*, 77-101.
- Copeland, J., Swift, W., Roffman, R., & Stephens, R. (2001). A randomised controlled trial of brief cognitive-behavioural interventions for cannabis use disorder. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment, 21*, 55-64.
- Cordoba, R., Delgado, M. T., Pico, V., Altisent, R., Fores, D., Monreal, A., et al. (1998). Effectiveness of brief intervention on non-dependent alcohol drinkers (ebial): A Spanish multi-centre study. *Family Practice*, *15*(6), 562-588.
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior. New York: Plenum.
- Di Clemente, C. C. (1999). Motivation for change: Implications for substance abuse treatment. *Psychological Science, 10*(3), 209-213.

- Dunn, C., Deroo, L., & Rivara, F. P. (2001). The use of brief interventions adapted from motivational interviewing across behavioural domains: A systematic review. Addiction, 96, 1725-1742.
- Fairbank, J. A., Denteman, G. H., & Condellie, W. S. (1993). Do methadone patients substitute other drugs for heroin? Predicting substance use at 1-year follow-up. *American Journal* of Drug and Alcohol Abuse, 19, 465-474.
- Fleming, M. F., Mundt, M. P., French, M. T., Manwell, L. B., Stauffacher, E. A., & Barry, K. L. (2000). Benefit-cost analysis of brief physician advice with problem drinkers in primary care settings. *Medical Care*, 38(1), 7-18.
- Heather, N. (1996). The public health and brief intervention for excessive alcohol consumption: The British experience. *Addictive Behaviours, 21*, 857-868.
- Humeniuk, R. (2006). Validation of the alcohol, smoking and substance involvement screening test (ASSIST) and pilot brief intervention: A technical report of phase II findings of the WHO ASSIST Project.

http://www.who.int/substance\_abuse/activities/assist\_technicalreport\_phase2\_final.pdf

- Humeniuk, R. E., Henry-Edwards, S., & Ali, R. L. (2003). Self-help strategies for cutting down or stopping substance use: A guide. <u>http://www.who.int/entity/substance\_abuse/activities/en/Draft\_Substance\_Use\_Guide.p</u> df
- Institute of Medicine. (1990). Broadening the base of treatment for alcohol problems. Washington, DC: National Academic Press.
- Lang, E., Engelander, M., & Brook, T. (2000). Report of an integrated brief intervention with self-defined problem cannabis users. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment, 19*, 111-116.
- Maisto, S. E., Conigliaro, J., McNeil, M., Kraemer, K., Conigliaro, R. L., & Kelley, M. E. (2001).
   Effects of two types of brief intervention and readiness to change on alcohol use in hazardous drinkers. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 62*(5), 605-614.
- Miller, W. R., & Rollnick, S. (1991). *Motivational interviewing: Preparing people to change* addictive behaviours. New York: Guilford Press.
- Miller, W. R., & Rollnick, S. (2002). *Motivational interviewing: Preparing people for change* (2nd ed.). New York: The Guilford Press.
- Newcombe, D., Humeniuk, R. E., & Ali, R. L. (2005). Validation of the World Health
  Organization alcohol smoking and substance involvement screening test (ASSIST):
  Phase II study. Report from the Australian site. *Drug and Alcohol Review, 24*(3), 217-226.
- Prochaska, J. A., & Di Clemente, C. C. (1982). Transtheoretical therapy: Towards a more integrative model of change. *Psychotherapy: theory research and practice, 19*, 276-288.

- Prochaska, J. M., Prochaska, J. O., Cohen, F. C., Gomes, S. O., Laforge, R. G., & Eastwood,
  A. L. (2004). The transtheoretical model of change for multi-level interventions for
  alcohol abuse on campus. *Journal of Alcohol and Drug Education*, 47(3), 34-50.
- Roche, A., & Freeman, T. (2004). Brief interventions: Good in theory but weak in practice. Drug and Alcohol Review, 23, 11-18.
- Ryan, R. M. (1995). Psychological needs and the facilitation of integrative processes. *Journal* of *Personality*, 63(3), 397.
- Saunders, B., Wilkinson, C., & Phillips, M. (1995). The impact of a brief motivational intervention with opiate users attending a methadone programme. *Addiction, 90*, 415-424.
- Senft, R. A., Polen, M. R., Freeborn, D. K., & Hollis, J. F. (1997). Brief intervention in a primary care setting for hazardous drinkers. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 13(6), 464-470.
- Skinner, H. A. (1987). Early detection of alcohol & drug problems why? Australian Drug & Alcohol Review, 6, 293-301.
- Stephens, R. S., Roffman, R. A., & Curtin, L. (2000). Comparison of extended versus brief treatments for marijuana use. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(5), 898-908.
- Stern, S. A., Meredith, L. S., Gholson, J., Gore, P., & D'Amico, E. J. (2007). Project chat: A brief motivational substance abuse intervention for teens in primary care. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 32(2), 153-165.
- Stotts, A. L., Schmitz, J. M., Rhoades, H. M., & Grabowski, J. (2001). Motivational interviewing with cocaine-dependent patients: A pilot study. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 69(5), 858-862.
- Topp, L., Day, C., & Degenhardt, L. (2003). Changes in patterns of drug injection concurrent with a sustained reduction in the availability of heroin in Australia. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 70*(275-286).
- WHO ASSIST Working Group. (2002). The alcohol, smoking and substance involvement screening test (ASSIST): Development, reliability and feasibility. *Addiction*, 97, 1183-1194.

WHO Brief Intervention Study Group. (1996). A randomized cross-national clinical trial of brief interventions with heavy drinkers. *American Journal of Public Health, 86*(7), 948-955.

- World Health Organization. (2002). *The world health report 2002: Reducing risks, promoting healthy life.* Geneva.
- Wutzke, S. E., Shiell, A., Gomel, M. K., & Conigrave, K. M. (2001). Cost effectiveness of brief interventions for reducing alcohol consumption. Social Science & Medicine, 52(6), 863-870.

### SECTION 8 APPENDICES

- APPENDIX 1: The ASSIST V3.0 questionnaire
- APPENDIX 2: ASSIST Feedback Report Card
- APPENDIX 3: Example of the 9-step brief intervention.
- APPENDIX 4: Part 7 Brief Intervention Record
- APPENDIX 5: Part 9 Brief Intervention Process Rating Form Follow up

#### **APPENDIX 1**

# WHO - ASSIST V3.0

CLINICIAN ID		CLINIC						
PATIENT ID		Dате						
INTRODUCTION (Please read to patient. Can be adapted for local circumstances )								

(Many drugs & medications can affect your health. It is important for your health care provider to have

accurate information about your use of various substances, in order to provide the best possible care.) The following questions ask about your experience of using alcohol, tobacco produces and other drugs

across your lifetime and in the past three months. These substances can be smoked, swallowed, snorted, inhaled, injected or taken in the form of pills (show drug card).

Some of the substances listed may be prescribed by a doctor (like amphetamines, sedatives, pain medications). For this interview, we will <u>not</u> record medications that are used <u>as prescribed</u> by your doctor. However, if you have taken such medications for reasons <u>other</u> than prescription, or taken them more frequently or at higher doses than prescribed, please let me know. While we are also interested in knowing about your use of various illicit drugs, please be assured that information on such use will be treated as strictly confidential.

#### NOTE: BEFORE ASKING QUESTIONS, GIVE ASSIST RESPONSE CARD TO PATIENT

#### **Question 1**

In your life, which of the following substances have you <u>ever used</u> ? (NON-MEDICAL USE ONLY)	Νο	Yes
a. Tobacco products (cigarettes, chewing tobacco, cigars, etc.)	0	3
b. Alcoholic beverages (beer, wine, spirits, etc.)	0	3
c. Cannabis (marijuana, pot, grass, hash, etc.)	0	3
d. Cocaine (coke, crack, etc.)	0	3
e. Amphetamine type stimulants (speed, diet pills, ecstasy, etc.)	0	3
f. Inhalants (nitrous, glue, petrol, paint thinner, etc.)	0	3
g. Sedatives or Sleeping Pills (Valium, Serepax, Rohypnol, etc.)	0	3
h. Hallucinogens (LSD, acid, mushrooms, PCP, Special K, etc.)	0	3
i. Opioids (heroin, morphine, methadone, codeine, etc.)	0	3
j. Other - specify:	0	3

Probe if all answers are negative: "Not even when you were in school?" If "No" to all items, stop interview.

*If "Yes" to any of these items, ask Question 2 for each substance ever used.* 

# **Question 2**

In the <u>past three months</u> , how often have you used the substances you mentioned <i>(FIRST DRUG,</i> SECOND DRUG, ETC)?	Never	Once or Twice	Monthly	Weekly	Daily or Almost Daily
a. Tobacco products (cigarettes, chewing tobacco, cigars, etc.)	0	2	3	4	6
b. Alcoholic beverages (beer, wine, spirits, etc.)	0	2	3	4	6
c. Cannabis (marijuana, pot, grass, hash, etc.)	0	2	3	4	6
d. Cocaine (coke, crack, etc.)	0	2	3	4	6
e. Amphetamine type stimulants (speed, diet pills, ecstasy, etc.)	0	2	3	4	6
f. Inhalants (nitrous, glue, petrol, paint thinner, etc.)	0	2	3	4	6
g. Sedatives or Sleeping Pills (Valium, Serepax, Rohypnol, etc.)	0	2	3	4	6
h. Hallucinogens (LSD, acid, mushrooms, PCP, Special K, etc.)	0	2	3	4	6
i. Opioids (heroin, morphine, methadone, codeine, etc.)	0	2	3	4	6
j. Other - specify:	0	2	3	4	6

### If "Never" to all items in Question 2, skip to Question 6.

If any substances in Question 2 were used in the previous three months, continue with Questions 3, 4 & 5 for <u>each substance</u> used.

# **Question 3**

During the <u>past three months</u> , how often have you had a strong desire or urge to use <i>(FIRST DRUG,</i> SECOND DRUG, ETC)?	Never	Once or Twice	Monthly	Weekly	Daily or Almost Daily
a. Tobacco products (cigarettes, chewing tobacco, cigars, etc.)	0	3	4	5	6
b. Alcoholic beverages (beer, wine, spirits, etc.)	0	3	4	5	6
c. Cannabis (marijuana, pot, grass, hash, etc.)	0	3	4	5	6
d. Cocaine (coke, crack, etc.)	0	3	4	5	6
e. Amphetamine type stimulants (speed, diet pills, ecstasy, etc.)	0	3	4	5	6
f. Inhalants (nitrous, glue, petrol, paint thinner, etc.)	0	3	4	5	6
g. Sedatives or Sleeping Pills (Valium, Serepax, Rohypnol, etc.)	0	3	4	5	6
h. Hallucinogens (LSD, acid, mushrooms, PCP, Special K, etc.)	0	3	4	5	6
i. Opioids (heroin, morphine, methadone, codeine, etc.)	0	3	4	5	6
j. Other - specify:	0	3	4	5	6

# Question 4

Question 4					
During the <u>past three months</u> , how often has your use of <i>(FIRST DRUG, SECOND DRUG, ETC</i> ) led to health, social, legal or financial problems?	Never	Once or Twice	Monthly	Weekly	Daily or Almost Daily
a. Tobacco products (cigarettes, chewing tobacco, cigars, etc.)	0	4	5	6	7
b. Alcoholic beverages (beer, wine, spirits, etc.)	0	4	5	6	7
c. Cannabis (marijuana, pot, grass, hash, etc.)	0	4	5	6	7
d. Cocaine (coke, crack, etc.)	0	4	5	6	7
e. Amphetamine type stimulants (speed, diet pills, ecstasy, etc.)	0	4	5	6	7
f. Inhalants (nitrous, glue, petrol, paint thinner, etc.)	0	4	5	6	7
g. Sedatives or Sleeping Pills (Valium, Serepax, Rohypnol, etc.)	0	4	5	6	7
h. Hallucinogens (LSD, acid, mushrooms, PCP, Special K, etc.)	0	4	5	6	7
i. Opioids (heroin, morphine, methadone, codeine, etc.)	0	4	5	6	7
j. Other - specify:	0	4	5	6	7

# Question 5

During the <u>past three months</u> , how often have you failed to do what was normally expected of you because of your use of <i>(FIRST DRUG, SECOND DRUG, ETC</i> )?	Never	Once or Twice	Monthly	Weekly	Daily or Almost Daily
a. Tobacco products					
b. Alcoholic beverages (beer, wine, spirits, etc.)	0	5	6	7	8
c. Cannabis (marijuana, pot, grass, hash, etc.)	0	5	6	7	8
d. Cocaine (coke, crack, etc.)	0	5	6	7	8
e. Amphetamine type stimulants (speed, diet pills, ecstasy, etc.)	0	5	6	7	8
f. Inhalants (nitrous, glue, petrol, paint thinner, etc.)	0	5	6	7	8
g. Sedatives or Sleeping Pills (Valium, Serepax, Rohypnol, etc.)	0	5	6	7	8
h. Hallucinogens (LSD, acid, mushrooms, PCP, Special K, etc.)	0	5	6	7	8
i. Opioids (heroin, morphine, methadone, codeine, etc.)	0	5	6	7	8
j. Other - specify:	0	5	6	7	8

# Ask Questions 6 & 7 for all substances ever used (i.e. those endorsed in Question 1)

Question 6							
Has a friend or relative or anyone else <u>ever</u> expressed concern about your use of <i>(FIRST DRUG, SECOND DRUG, ETC.)?</i>	No, Never	Yes, in the past 3 months	Yes, but not in the past 3 months				
a. Tobacco products (cigarettes, chewing tobacco, cigars, etc.)	0	6	3				
b. Alcoholic beverages (beer, wine, spirits, etc.)	0	6	3				
c. Cannabis (marijuana, pot, grass, hash, etc.)	0	6	3				
d. Cocaine (coke, crack, etc.)	0	6	3				
e. Amphetamine type stimulants (speed, diet pills, ecstasy, etc.)	0	6	3				
f. Inhalants (nitrous, glue, petrol, paint thinner, etc.)	0	6	3				
g. Sedatives or Sleeping Pills (Valium, Serepax, Rohypnol, etc.)	0	6	3				
h. Hallucinogens (LSD, acid, mushrooms, PCP, Special K, etc.)	0	6	3				
i. Opioids (heroin, morphine, methadone, codeine, etc.)	0	6	3				
j. Other – specify:	0	6	3				

Question 7			
Have you <u>ever</u> tried and failed to control, cut down or stop using <i>(FIRST DRUG, SECOND DRUG, ETC.)?</i>	No,	Never Yes, in the past 3 months	Yes, but not in the past 3 months
a. Tobacco products (cigarettes, chewing tobacco, cigars, etc.)	0	6	3
b. Alcoholic beverages (beer, wine, spirits, etc.)	0	6	3
c. Cannabis (marijuana, pot, grass, hash, etc.)	0	6	3
d. Cocaine (coke, crack, etc.)	0	6	3
e. Amphetamine type stimulants (speed, diet pills, ecstasy, etc.)	0	6	3
f. Inhalants (nitrous, glue, petrol, paint thinner, etc.)	0	6	3
g. Sedatives or Sleeping Pills (Valium, Serepax, Rohypnol, etc.)	0	6	3
h. Hallucinogens (LSD, acid, mushrooms, PCP, Special K, etc.)	0	6	3
i. Opioids (heroin, morphine, methadone, codeine, etc.)	0	6	3
j. Other – specify:	0	6	3

## **Question 8**

	No, Never	Yes, in the past 3 months	Yes, but not in the past 3 months
Have you <u>ever</u> used any drug by injection? (NON-MEDICAL USE ONLY)	0	2	1

### **IMPORTANT NOTE:**

Patients who have injected drugs in the last 3 months should be asked about their pattern of injecting during this period, to determine their risk levels and the best course of intervention.

PATTERN OF INJECTING			INTERVENTION GUIDELINES
Once weekly or less Fewer than 3 days in a row	or	<b>▶</b>	Brief Intervention including "risks associated with injecting" card
More than once per week 3 or more days in a row	or	<b>▶</b>	Further assessment and more intensive treatment*

HOW TO CALCULATE A SPECIFIC SUBSTANCE INVOLVEMENT SCORE.

For each substance (labelled a. to j.) add up the scores received for questions 2 through 7 inclusive. Do not include the results from either Q1 or Q8 in this score. For example, a score for cannabis would be calculated as: Q2c + Q3c + Q4c + Q5c + Q6c + Q7c

Note that Q5 for tobacco is not coded, and is calculated as: Q2a + Q3a + Q4a + Q6a + Q7a

#### THE TYPE OF INTERVENTION IS DETERMINED BY THE PATIENT'S SPECIFIC SUBSTANCE INVOLVEMENT SCORE

	Record specific	no	receive brief	more intensive
	substance score	intervention	intervention	treatment *
a. tobacco		0 - 3	4 - 26	27+
b. alcohol		0 - 10	11 - 26	27+
c. cannabis		0 - 3	4 - 26	27+
d. cocaine		0 - 3	4 - 26	27+
e. amphetamine		0 - 3	4 - 26	27+
f. inhalants		0 - 3	4 - 26	27+
g. sedatives		0 - 3	4 - 26	27+
h. hallucinogens		0 - 3	4 - 26	27+
i. opioids		0 - 3	4 - 26	27+
j. other drugs		0 - 3	4 - 26	27+

**NOTE:** \*FURTHER ASSESSMENT AND MORE INTENSIVE TREATMENT may be provided by the health professional(s) within your primary care setting, or, by a specialist drug and alcohol treatment service when available.

# <u>A</u>lcohol, <u>S</u>moking and <u>S</u>ubstance <u>Involvement Screening Test</u> (WHO ASSIST V3.0) Feedback REPORT CARD

Name	Test Date

# **Specific Substance Involvement Scores**

Substance	Score	Ris	k Level
a. Tobacco products		0-3 4-26 27+	Low Moderate High
b. Alcoholic Beverages		0-10 11-26 27+	Low Moderate High
c. Cannabis		0-3 4-26 27+	Low Moderate High
d. Cocaine		0-3 4-26 27+	Low Moderate High
e. Amphetamine type stimulants		0-3 4-26 27+	Low Moderate High
f. Inhalants		0-3 4-26 27+	Low Moderate High
g. Sedatives or Sleeping Pills		0-3 4-26 27+	Low Moderate High
h. Hallucinogens		0-3 4-26 27+	Low Moderate High
i. Opioids		0-3 4-26 27+	Low Moderate High
j. Other - specify		0-3 4-26 27+	Low Moderate High

What do your scores mean?			
Low:	You are at low risk of health and other problems from your current pattern of use.		
Moderate:	You are at risk of health and other problems from your current pattern of substance use.		
High:	You are at high risk of experiencing severe problems (health, social, financial, legal, relationship) as a result of your current pattern of use and are likely to be dependent		

# Are you concerned about your substance use?

a. tobacco	Your risk of experiencing these harms is: Low Moderate High (tick one)				
	Regular tobacco smoking is associated with:				
	Premature ageing, wrinkling of the skin				
	Respiratory infections and asthma				
	High blood pressure, diabetes				
	Respiratory infections, allergies and asthma in children of smokers				
	Miscarriage, premature labour and low birth weight babies for pregnant women				
	Kidney disease				
	Chronic obstructive airways disease				
	Heart disease, stroke, vascular disease				
	Cancers				

b. alcohol		Your risk of experiencing these harms is: Low Moderate High (tick one)		
		Regular excessive alcohol use is associated with:		
	Hangovers, aggressive and violent behaviour, accidents and injury			
	Red	duced sexual performance, premature ageing		
	Digestive problems, ulcers, inflammation of the pancreas, high blood pressure			
	Anxiety and depression, relationship difficulties, financial and work problems			
	Diff	iculty remembering things and solving problems		
	Def	ormities and brain damage in babies of pregnant women		
	Stro	oke, permanent brain injury, muscle and nerve damage		
	Live	er disease, pancreas disease		
	Car	ncers, suicide		

c. cannabis		Your risk of experiencing these harms is:	Low  Moderate High  (tick one)
•••••••		Regular use of cannabis is associated with:	
	Pro	blems with attention and motivation	
	Anx	iety, paranoia, panic, depression	
	Decreased memory and problem solving ability		
	Hig	n blood pressure	
	Astl	nma, bronchitis	
	Psy	chosis in those with a personal or family history of schize	cophrenia
	Hea	rt disease and chronic obstructive airways disease	
	Car	icers	

d. cocaine	Your risk of experiencing these harms is:	Low D Moderate D High D (tick one)
	Regular use of cocaine is associated with:	
	Difficulty sleeping, heart racing, headaches, weight loss	
	Numbness, tingling, clammy skin, skin scratching or picking	
	Accidents and injury, financial problems	
	Irrational thoughts	
	Mood swings - anxiety, depression, mania	
	Aggression and paranoia	
	Intense craving, stress from the lifestyle	
	Psychosis after repeated use of high doses	
	Sudden death from heart problems	

e. ampheta	mine	Your risk of experiencing these harms is:	Low D Moderate High (tick one)
type stim	ulants	Regular use of amphetamine type stimulants is associated with:	
	Difficulty	v sleeping, loss of appetite and weight loss, dehydra	tion
	jaw clen	ching, headaches, muscle pain	
	Mood sv	vings –anxiety, depression, agitation, mania, panic	, paranoia
	Tremors	, irregular heartbeat, shortness of breath	
	Aggress	ive and violent behaviour	
	Psychos	is after repeated use of high doses	
	Perman	ent damage to brain cells	
	Liver da	mage, brain haemorrhage, sudden death (from ecst	asy) in rare situations

f. inhalants		Your risk of experiencing these harms is: Low Moderate High (tick one)			
		Regular use of inhalants is associated with:			
	Diz	ziness and hallucinations, drowsiness, disorientation, blurred vision			
	Flu	like symptoms, sinusitis, nosebleeds			
	Indi	gestion, stomach ulcers			
	Acc	idents and injury			
	Mer	mory loss, confusion, depression, aggression			
	Coc	ordination difficulties, slowed reactions, hypoxia			
	Del	irium, seizures, coma, organ damage (heart, lungs, liver, kidneys)			
	Dea	ath from heart failure			
g. sedatives	5	Your risk of experiencing these harms is:	Low 🗆	Moderate  (tick one)	High □
-----------------	-------	--	------------	----------------------	--------
		Regular use of sedatives is associated with:		· · ·	
	Dro	wsiness, dizziness and confusion			
	Diffi	culty concentrating and remembering things			
	Ναι	sea, headaches, unsteady gait			
	Slee	ping problems			
	Anx	iety and depression			
	Tole	rance and dependence after a short period of use.			
	Sev	ere withdrawal symptoms			
	Ove	rdose and death if used with alcohol, opioids or other dep	pressant c	łrugs.	

h. hallucinogens		Your risk of experiencing these harms is:	Low 🗆	Moderate (tick one)	High □					
	Hallucin	regular use of nanucinogens is associated with:	tile olfac	tory						
	rianuon		sine, onae	lory						
	Difficult	y sleeping								
	Nausea	and vomiting								
	Increas	ed heart rate and blood pressure								
	Mood swings									
	Anxiety, panic, paranoia									
	Flash-backs									
	Increase the effects of mental illnesses such as schizophrenia									

i. opioids	Your risk of experiencing these harms is:	Low  Moderate  High  (tick one)
•	Regular use of opioids is associated with:	× ,
	Itching, nausea and vomiting	
	Drowsiness, constipation, tooth decay	
	Difficulty concentrating and remembering things	
	Emotional problems and social problems	
	Reduced sexual desire and sexual performance	
	Relationship difficulties	
	Financial and work problems, violations of law	
	Tolerance and dependence, withdrawal symptoms	
	Overdose and death from respiratory failure	

APPENDIX 3

#### The ASSIST Brief Intervention 9 simple Steps

- 1. FEEDBACK use card
- 2. ADVICE
- 3. **RESPONSIBILITY**
- 4. CONCERN about score
- 5. GOOD THINGS ABOUT USING
- 6. LESS GOOD THINGS ABOUT USING
- 7. SUMMARISE
- 8. CONCERN about less good things
- 9. TAKE-HOME INFORMATION AND BOOKLET

#### 9 STEP Program Example – the ASSIST Brief Intervention

The following is an example of how to word an ASSIST brief intervention for someone who scores in the moderate risk range for amphetamines using the ASSIST Feedback Report card for patients. You can use this example for other substances also. The ASSIST feedback report card for patient lists the health and other effects associated with the use of specific substances.

#### 1. FEEDBACK

Would you like to see the results of the questionnaire you just did?

These are your scores for each substance that we talked about. You scored a 21 for tobacco which puts you in the moderate risk group for that substance, a 6 for cannabis which also is in the moderate risk group and 14 for amphetamine type stimulants like speed, ecstasy and meth which is also in the moderate risk group. You were in the low risk group for all other substances.

A score in the moderate risk group means that you are at risk of health and other problems from your current pattern of substance use. You may not be experiencing any problems now, but a score in the moderate risk range means that you are also at risk of developing health and other problems in the future.

#### (Open booklet)

Because your risk of experiencing harms from amphetamines is moderate, the kinds of things that are associated with your current pattern of use are (go through list) difficulty sleeping, loss of appetite, dehydration, jaw clenching, headaches, muscle pain, things like anxiety, depression, panic, paranoia. Some people get aggressive and violent when they use amphetamines, and some people experience psychosis which is like schizophrenia. Unfortunately amphetamines and ecstasy can also cause permanent damage to brain cells, liver damage, brain haemorrhage – which is a stroke and sometimes sudden death.

#### 2. ADVICE

The best way you can reduce the likelihood of these things happening to you is to either cut down or stop using amphetamines.

#### 3. **RESPONSIBILITY**

What you do with this information is up to you. We're just here to let you know the health and other risks that are associated with your current pattern of use.

(Turn back to front of booklet and point to amphetamine score)

#### 4. CONCERN

Does your score for amphetamines concern you?

#### 5. GOOD THINGS ABOUT USING

What are the good things about using amphetamines for you?

#### 6. LESS GOOD THINGS ABOUT USING

What are the less good things about using amphetamines for you personally?

(May need to prompt with things like effects on health and relationships, work and study, any legal problems or problems with the police, any financial problems because of spending money on substances)

#### 7. SUMMARISE

So the good things about using meth for you is that it makes you feel up and active and you can party all night with your friends and have a really good time, but on the down side you get pretty depressed in the come down and you've noticed that you're feeling more moody and irritable in general than you have in the past, and that it has caused a few problems with your boyfriend, particularly because of your irritability and mood swings.

#### 8. CONCERN

Do the less good things for you about using amphetamines concern you?

#### 9. TAKE-HOME INFORMATION AND BOOKLET

You can take this score sheet home with you and I'll also give you this information sheet on amphetamines. I'll also give this booklet ("Self-help strategies for cutting down or stopping substance use: A guide") which people often find useful to help them decide whether or not they want to cut down on using substances. If you do decide that you want to cut down or stop using, then it provides some strategies that you might find helpful.



#### APPENDIX 4

#### PART 7. BRIEF INTERVENTION RECORD

Please fill in a Brief Intervention Record for each study participant (NB. This form is not administered to participants, but rather filled in by the interviewer concerning the BI session)

INTERVIEWER ID			C	COUNTRY		CLINIC	
SUBJECT ID							
DATE TODAY							

#### Part 1 – General Information about the Brief Intervention

- **Column A** should be completed for participants randomised to the Brief Intervention group who received their Brief Intervention at **baseline**.
- **Column B** should be completed for participants randomised to the Wait-list Control group who received their Brief Intervention at **follow-up**.

#### Part 2 – Detailed Information about the Brief Information

Same questions for both groups

ANY FURTHER COMMENTS ON EITHER PART 1 OR PART 2 OF THE BRIEF INTERVENTION RECORD CAN BE MADE IN THE TEXT BOX BELOW.



#### PART 1. General Information about the Brief Intervention

### 7.1 TO WHICH GROUP HAS THE PARTICIPANT BEEN RANDOMISED? (PLEASE FILL IN ONE COLUMN ONLY)

COLUMN A (Baseline BI)	COLUMN B (Follow-up BI)					
a. Brief Intervention group (tick)	b. Weight List Control group (tick)					
7.2a Date baseline interview	7.2b DATE FOLLOW-UP INTERVIEW					
7.3a RECORD BASELINE ASSIST SCORES	7.3b Record Follow-up ASSIST Scores					
<ul> <li>(i) Cannabis</li> <li>(ii) Cocaine</li> <li>(iii) Amphetamine-type stimulants</li> <li>(iv) Opioids</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>(i) Cannabis</li> <li>(ii) Cocaine</li> <li>(iii) Amphetamine-type stimulants</li> <li>(iv) Opioids</li> </ul>					
7.4a Which drug is the focus of the BI?	7.4b Which drug is the focus of the BI?					
7.5a START TIME OF BI AT BASELINE?	7.5b START TIME OF BI AT FOLLOW-UP?					
24 hour clock	24 hour clock					
7.6a END TIME OF BI AT BASELINE?	7.6b END TIME OF BI AT FOLLOW-UP?					
24 hour clock	24 hour clock					
7.7a LENGTH OF BI (MINUTES)	7.7b LENGTH OF BI (MINUTES)					



#### PART 2. DETAILED INFORMATION ABOUT THE BRIEF INTERVENTION (TO BE COMPLETED IMMEDIATELY AFTER BRIEF INTERVENTION)

#### 7.8a WHAT MATERIALS WERE GIVEN TO PARTICIPANT TO ACCOMPANY BRIEF INT.? (TICK ALL THAT APPLY)

(i) Substance Users Guide to cutting down or stopping	
(ii) Specific Information Cannabis	
(iii) Specific Information Cocaine	
(iv) Specific Information Amphetamine-type stimulants	
(v) Specific Information Opioids	
(vii) Other (specify)	
(viii) Other (specify)	
(ix) Other (specify)	

# 7.9 This section is designed to rate the session engagement and expected outcome following the brief intervention. Immediately after the brief intervention, please complete the following rating scale. To what extent to you consider the client was: (please circle)?

	Not at all	Not at all								
<b>a.</b> Easy to talk to and co-operative during the session	1	2	3	4	5	6	7			
<b>b.</b> Resistant to talking about their substance use	7	6	5	4	3	2	1			
c. Appeared to have insight into the ways they use substances & potential or actual problems arising	1	2	3	4	5	6	7			
<b>d.</b> Committed to reducing the frequency of their substance use	1	2	3	4	5	6	7			
e. Committed to reducing the amount they consume of one or more substances	1	2	3	4	5	6	7			
<ul> <li>Appeared to be confident that they could avoid future substance-related problems</li> </ul>	1	2	3	4	5	6	7			

#### 7.9g. Total score is derived through cumulation of Questions a.

through f. A high score indicates greater session engagement & greater likelihood of positive change through BI.



7.9g. Total score



#### APPENDIX 5

#### PART 9. BRIEF INTERVENTION PROCESS RATING FORM – FOLLOW-UP

To be administered to participants at **follow-up** concerning the Brief Intervention that they received at baseline (participants from Wait-List Control are **not** administered this form). There are three main parts to this form:

Part 1 General Information about the feedback and information

Part 2 Specific questions concerning the information and feedback received during the session with the interviewer

Part 3 Specific questions concerning the written information (Substance Users Guide)

## Please administer to participants at the follow-up interview <u>AFTER</u> you have administered the ASSIST

INTERVIEWER ID				COUNTRY				CLINIC		
SUBJECT ID										
DATE TODAY										
What drug was the focus of the BI for this participant? (refer to 7.4a)									→ Use this (drug) is	information where term found in this form

How many weeks ago was the baseline interview for this participant? (refer to 7.2a)

#### PLEASE READ TO PARTICIPANT

You may remember that after you completed the questionnaire three months ago, the interviewer gave you feedback & information on your (insert drug name) use, & may have discussed with you the positive & negative aspects of your (drug) use. The interviewer also may have given you some written information to take home & read. This questionnaire aims to find out what you honestly thought of the feedback & information you received in general (Part 1), and also your thoughts on the specific aspects of the session with the interviewer (Part 2), and the written information that you were given to take home (Part 3).

#### Part 1. General

**9.1 COULD** YOU PLEASE BRIEFLY DESCRIBE WHAT YOU THOUGHT WAS THE PURPOSE OF THE FEEDBACK AND INFORMATION YOU RECEIVED ON (DRUG) USE?





9.2a ON A SCALE OF 1 TO 5, HOW DID THE INFORMATION AND FEEDBACK INFLUENCE YOUR HEALTH BEHAVIOUR? - where 1 equals "no influence whatsoever", and 5 equals "completely changed my behaviour" (Please circle)



9.2b. If '1' was circled ask, "Why was there no influence on your behaviour?" (If participant is having problems giving a full answer, you can prompt with questions like; "was there anything particular that you didn't like about the session with the interviewer?" or "what do you think it would take to influence your health behaviour?")

9.2c..lf '2' or greater was circled ask, "If it did have some effect, how did it influence your health behaviour?"

Version 1. Last modified September 2003





9.3b ON A SCALE OF 1 TO 5, TO WHAT EXTENT DID YOU ACTUALLY REDUCE YOUR (DRUG) USE? - where 1 equals "did not reduce my (drug) use whatsoever", and 5 equals "completely stopped (drug) use after the last interview" (Please circle)



9.3c. If circled '2' or greater ask, "How long did this last?"(Code in weeks. Remind participant of how many weeks it has been since their first interview as per 7.2a)

#### Part 2. Information and feedback session with interviewer

**9.4** WHAT PARTICULAR ASPECT OF THE FEEDBACK AND INFORMATION SESSION WITH THE INTERVIEWER WAS IT THAT INFLUENCED YOUR HEALTH BEHAVIOUR AND (DRUG) USE? (If the participant is having problems giving a full answer, you can prompt with questions like; *"what do you remember most about the session with the interviewer?"* or *"what struck you the most?"*)





#### Part 3. Written Information (See 7.8a for this participant)



9.5b ON A SCALE OF 1 TO 5, HOW MUCH OF THE BOOKLET DID YOU READ? - where 1 equals "none of the booklet whatsoever", & 5 equals "read all of booklet cover to cover" (Please circle)



9.5c. If circled '2' or less ask, "What stopped you from reading through all of the booklet?"

9.6. If circled '2' or more ask, "How useful did you find the booklet for" (circle one number for each row)	Not useful	Some-what useful	Very useful	Don't know
a. helping you to understand your level of risk	1	2	3	9
<b>b.</b> helping you to weigh up the positive & negatives of using (drug)	1	2	3	9
c. understanding your options concerning changing your (drug) use	1	2	3	9
d. providing you with realistic strategies & guidelines for change	1	2	3	9
e. actually helping you to cut down or stop using (drug)	1	2	3	9

**9.7 IS** THERE ANYTHING ELSE YOU WOULD LIKE TO TELL US ABOUT YOUR PARTICIPATION IN THIS PROJECT? *For example, how could the feedback and information be improved?* 

